
From: Robert Rush
To:
Subject: Re: Community Affairs References Committee - Rugby - Financial reports [DLM=Sensitive]
Date: Friday, 17 November 2017 3:34:11 PM
Attachments: 7E9016618.pdf

7E7870475.pdf
7E6901933.pdf
028998224.pdf
028823524.pdf
7E4422746.pdf
029272348.pdf
029103962.pdf
028485824.pdf
026467923.pdf

Hi Michael, 

Did someone get back to you with the below info? If not my apologies, as I see the report has been released. 

If there is anything else we can do, please let me know. 

Robert 

Explain how the following companies are incorporated: 

ASIC registers companies under the Corporations Act 2001 (the Act) after receiving an application for registration. The application must

comply with section 117 of the Act and it comes into existence as a body corporate on the day it is registered (section 119). ASIC also

issues a certificate which states the company's name, ACN, type, that the company is registered  under the Act, the date of registration and

the State or Territory in which the company is taken to be registered. Companies registered under the Act are incorporated in Australia

(section 119A). 

Specifically in relation to the two companies in question we can advise: 

Australian Rugby Union Ltd - ACN 002 898 544

Australian Rugby Union Ltd was registered as "Australian Rugby Football Union Ltd", a Public company Limited by Guarantee by

the NSW Office of the National Companies and Securities Commission on 18 February 1985.

Their name changed to "AUSTRALIAN RUGBY UNION LIMITED" on 13 December 1995.

Melbourne Rebels Rugby Union - ACN 140 597 066

Melbourne Rebels Rugby Union Pty Ltd was registered as "KERRIMILL PTY LTD", a Proprietary company Limited by Shares by

ASIC on 17 November 2009.

The registration document for the company was lodged electronically by CASTLE CORPORATE PTY LTD.

Their name changed to "MELBOURNE REBELS RUGBY UNION PTY LTD" on 29 January 2010.

Their type changed to a Public company and their name to "MELBOURNE REBELS RUGBY UNION LTD" on 1 July 2010.

Their type changed to a Proprietary company and their name to "MELBOURNE REBELS RUGBY UNION PTY LTD" on 14 August

2015.

The Documents as requested can be found in the tables below. 

Australian Rugby Union Ltd – ACN 002 898 544

Date Document No. Document type Page Documents
2/05/2017 7E9016618 Financial Report Financial Report - Pub Co Ltd By Guarantee Qual Under Tier 2 (FR 2016) (388L) 40
13/04/2016 7E7870475 Financial Report Financial Report - Pub Co Ltd By Guarantee Qual Under Tier 2 (FR 2015) (388L) 40
24/04/2015 7E6901933 Financial Report Financial Report - Pub Co Ltd By Guarantee Qual Under Tier 2 (FR 2014) (388L) 34
26/08/2014 028998224 Financial Report Financial Report - Public Company Or Disclosing Entity (FR 2013) (388A) 37
20/01/2014 028823524 Financial Report Financial Report - Public Company Or Disclosing Entity (FR 2012) (388A) 19
30/04/2012 7E4422746 Financial Report Financial Report - Pub Co Ltd By Guarantee Qual Under Tier 2 (FR 2011) (388L) 31

  
Melbourne Rebels Rugby Union Pty Ltd – ACN 140 597 066

Date Document No. Document type Pages Documents
18/05/2015 029272348 Financial Report Financial Report - Public Company Or Disclosing Entity (FR 2014) (388A) 33
6/02/2015 029103962 Financial Report Financial Report - Public Company Or Disclosing Entity (FR 2013) (388A) 32
28/06/2013 028485824 Financial Report Financial Report - Public Company Or Disclosing Entity (FR 2012) (388A) 34
3/07/2012 026467923 Financial Report Financial Report - Public Company Or Disclosing Entity (FR 2011) (388A) 36
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Australian Securities &
Investments Commission


Electronic Lodgement


Document No. 7E9016618


Lodgement date/time: 02-05-2017 17:28:05


Reference Id: 100038298


Form 388
Corporations Act 2001


294, 295, 298-300, 307, 308, 319, 321, 322
Corporations Regulations


1.0.08


Copy of financial statements and reports


Company details


Company name


AUSTRALIAN RUGBY UNION LIMITED


ACN


002 898 544


Reason for lodgement of statement and reports


A public company limited by guarantee who qualifies under Tier 2
Dates on which financial
year ends


Financial year end date
31-12-2016


Auditor's report


Were the financial statements audited or reviewed?


Audited


Is the opinion/conclusion in the report modified? (The opinion/conclusion in
the report is qualified, adverse or disclaimed)


No


Does the report contain an Emphasis of Matter and/or Other Matter
paragraph?


No


Details of current auditor or auditors


Current auditor
Date of appointment 22-02-1992


Name of auditor
KPMG


Address
10 SHELLY STREET
SYDNEY NSW 2000
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Certification


I certify that the attached documents are a true copy of the original reports
required to be lodged under section 319 of the Corporations Act 2001.


Yes


Signature


Select the capacity in which you are lodging the form
Secretary


I certify that the information in this form is true and complete and that I am
lodging these reports as, or on behalf of, the company.


Yes


Authentication


This form has been submitted by
Name John Richard HAWKINS
Date 02-05-2017


For more help or information
Web www.asic.gov.au
Ask a question? www.asic.gov.au/question
Telephone 1300 300 630
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Electronic Lodgement


Document No. 7E7870475


Lodgement date/time: 13-04-2016 15:24:23


Reference Id: 94378099


Form 388
Corporations Act 2001


294, 295, 298-300, 307, 308, 319, 321, 322
Corporations Regulations


1.0.08


Copy of financial statements and reports


Company details


Company name


AUSTRALIAN RUGBY UNION LIMITED


ACN


002 898 544


Reason for lodgement of statement and reports


A public company limited by guarantee who qualifies under Tier 2
Dates on which financial
year ends


Financial year end date
31-12-2015


Auditor's report


Were the financial statements audited or reviewed?


Audited


Is the opinion/conclusion in the report modified? (The opinion/conclusion in
the report is qualified, adverse or disclaimed)


No


Does the report contain an Emphasis of Matter and/or Other Matter
paragraph?


No


Details of current auditor or auditors


Current auditor
Date of appointment 22-02-1992


Name of auditor
KPMG


Address
10 SHELLY STREET
SYDNEY NSW 2000
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Certification


I certify that the attached documents are a true copy of the original reports
required to be lodged under section 319 of the Corporations Act 2001.


Yes


Signature


Select the capacity in which you are lodging the form
Secretary


I certify that the information in this form is true and complete and that I am
lodging these reports as, or on behalf of, the company.


Yes


Authentication


This form has been submitted by
Name John Richard HAWKINS
Date 13-04-2016


For more help or information
Web www.asic.gov.au
Ask a question? www.asic.gov.au/question
Telephone 1300 300 630
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Document No. 7E6901933


Lodgement date/time: 24-04-2015 13:15:06


Reference Id: 91565584


Form 388
Corporations Act 2001


294, 295, 298-300, 307, 308, 319, 321, 322
Corporations Regulations


1.0.08


Copy of financial statements and reports


Company details


Company name


AUSTRALIAN RUGBY UNION LIMITED


ACN


002 898 544


Reason for lodgement of statement and reports


A public company limited by guarantee who qualifies under Tier 2
Dates on which financial
year ends


Financial year end date
31-12-2014


Auditor's report


Were the financial statements audited or reviewed?


Audited


Is the opinion/conclusion in the report modified? (The opinion/conclusion in
the report is qualified, adverse or disclaimed)


No


Does the report contain an Emphasis of Matter and/or Other Matter
paragraph?


No


Details of current auditor or auditors


Current auditor
Date of appointment 22-02-1992


Name of auditor
KPMG


Address
10 SHELLY STREET
SYDNEY NSW 2000
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Certification


I certify that the attached documents are a true copy of the original reports
required to be lodged under section 319 of the Corporations Act 2001.


Yes


Signature


Select the capacity in which you are lodging the form
Secretary


I certify that the information in this form is true and complete and that I am
lodging these reports as, or on behalf of, the company.


Yes


Authentication


This form has been submitted by
Name John Richard HAWKINS
Date 24-04-2015


For more help or information
Web www.asic.gov.au
Ask a question? www.asic.gov.au/question
Telephone 1300 300 630














































































































































































































































































































































































ASIC Form 388 Ref 84207792 Page 1 of 2


Australian Securities &
Investments Commission
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Document No. 7E4422746


Lodgement date/time: 30-04-2012 12:08:56


Reference Id: 84207792


Form 388
Corporations Act 2001


294, 295, 298-300, 307, 308, 319, 321, 322
Corporations Regulations


1.0.08


Copy of financial statements and reports


Company details


Company name


AUSTRALIAN RUGBY UNION LIMITED


ACN


002 898 544


Reason for lodgement of statement and reports


A public company limited by guarantee who qualifies under Tier 2
Dates on which financial
year ends


Financial year end date
31-12-2011


Auditor's report


Were the financial statements audited or reviewed?


Audited


Details of current auditor or auditors


Current auditor
Date of appointment 22-02-1992


Name of auditor
KPMG


Address
10 SHELLY STREET
SYDNEY NSW 2000


Certification


I certify that the attached documents are a true copy of the original reports
required to be lodged under section 319 of the Corporations Act 2001.


Yes
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Signature


Select the capacity in which you are lodging the form
Secretary


I certify that the information in this form is true and complete and that I am
lodging these reports as, or on behalf of, the company.


Yes


Authentication


This form has been submitted by
Name Nicholas Stuart WEEKS
Date 30-04-2012


For more help or information
Web www.asic.gov.au
Ask a question? www.asic.gov.au/question
Telephone 1300 300 630
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Directors‟ report 


For the year ended 31 December 2011 


The Directors of Australian Rugby Union Limited („the Company‟) submit herewith their report together with the special 


purpose financial report of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2011 and the Auditor‟s report thereon. 


In order to comply with the provisions of the Corporations Act 2001 the Directors‟ report is as follows: 


 


1. Directors 


The names and particulars of the Directors who held office at any time during or since the end of the financial year are: 


1 Peter McGrath 


LLB, FAPI MAICD 


Chairman 


Peter joined the Board in April 2005 and was appointed Chairman in April 2007.  He is 


Chairman of the Nominations Committee and a member of the Human Resources 


Committee. Peter is one of the Australian Rugby Union representatives on the International 


Rugby Board Council and is a member of the International Rugby Board Executive 


Committee.  He is one of the Australian Rugby Union‟s delegates to the SANZAR UJV 


Executive Committee and will take up the position of Chairman of SANZAR from the 1 


January 2012.  Peter is a solicitor and Partner of Griffin Legal in Canberra, a Solicitor of the 


ACT Supreme Court and a member of the Law Society of the ACT.  Peter is a qualified 


Valuer and a Fellow of the Australian Property Institute.  Peter is also a Fellow of the AICD. 


 


2 Michael (Mike) Brown  


B.E (Hons) BSc MIEAust CPEng 


Non-Executive Director 


Mike joined the Board in April 2005 and resigned in April 2011.  Mike was Chairman of the 


Governance and Policy Committee and a member of the Nominations Committee. He is a 


Civil Engineer with 37 years experience in the Building and Construction Industry. Mike is 


Chairman of the Rugby Youth Foundation and a former Director of New South Wales Rugby 


Union. 


 


3 Mark Connors 


LLB – Bachelor of Laws, 


Professional Diploma in 


Stockbroking 


Non-Executive Director 


 


Mark joined the Board in April 2007 and is a member of the Audit Committee.  He was 


nominated to the Board by the Rugby Union Players Association (RUPA) having also been 


a former Executive Committee Member of RUPA.  Mark represented Queensland and 


Australia between 1991 and 2006 and was a member of the 1999 World Cup winning 


Wallabies team.  He is a former practicing lawyer now working as an investment adviser 


specialising in Australian Equities. 


 


4 Gen. Peter Cosgrove AC MC 


FAICD 


Non-Executive Director 


Peter joined the Board in April 2007 and resigned from the Board in April 2010.He was a 


member of the Nominations Committee and the Human Resources Committee up to 


October 2009.  Peter re-joined the Board in April 2011 and is Chairman of the Governance 


and Policy Committee and a member of the Nominations Committee.  Peter is a Director of 


Qantas Airways Limited and Cardno Limited, and a Director on a number of other Boards. 


Peter is a Fellow of the AICD., Chairman of the Defence South Australian Defence Advisory 


Board and Chairman of the Australian War Memorial Council.  Peter retired as the Chief of 


the Australian Defence Force in 2005. He was Australian of the Year in 2001. 


 


5 Michael Hawker AM 
BSc(Syd), FAICD, SF Fin, FAIM 
Non Executive Director 


 


Mike re-joined the Board in June 2009 and is Chairman of the Audit Committee.  He was 


Managing Director and CEO of Insurance Australia Group (IAG) for seven years, and has 


over 25 years in the financial services industry. He is currently based in London and is an 


independent Non-Executive Director of Aviva Plc and Macquarie Group.  He is Chairman of 


the George Institute and an Advisory Board Member of the Hong Kong based private equity 


firm GEMs. Michael has represented Australia and New South Wales and has been a 


previous Board Director of Australian Rugby Union and New South Wales Rugby Union. 


 


6 Richard (Rick) Lee 


BE(Chem.) MA(Oxon.) FAICD 


Non-Executive Director 


Rick joined the Board in June 2006 and is Chairman of the Human Resources Committee.  


He was CEO of Rothschild in Australia for nine years.  Rick is currently Chairman of Salmat 


Limited, Deputy Chairman of Ridley Corporation Limited and is a Director of Newcrest 


Mining Limited.  He is also Chairman of the Australian Institute of Company Directors. 
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Directors‟ report (continued)
 


For the year ended 31 December 2011 


7 Richard (Dick) McGruther OBE 


FCA AAICD 


Non-Executive Director 


Dick McGruther re-joined the Board in September 2009 and resigned in April 2011.   Dick 


was Chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the Nominations Committee. He is 


a Chartered Accountant and a consultant with Bentleys Chartered Accountants, after 


extensive services as a Partner of the firm. Dick is also Deputy Chairman of Watpac. He is a 


former International Rugby Board representative, Chairman and President of Queensland 


Rugby Union and was Australian Rugby Union Chairman from 1996 until 1998.   


 


 


8 John Mumm  


MCom(Hons), FAICD 


Non-Executive Director   


John joined the Board in November 2007 and is a member of the Audit Committee and 


Human Resources Committee. He was a member of the Nominations Committee up to 


October 2009.  John is currently Chairman of Spencer Stuart in Australasia and a former 


Director of the firm's global board. He is also a member of the Buildcorp Group Advisory 


Board. 


 


9 John O‟Neill AO 


DipLaw(Syd) FAIB FAICD  


Managing Director & CEO 


John re-joined the Board in June 2007, having previously served as Managing Director (MD) 


& CEO in 1995 – 2004.  He is a member of the Governance and Policy Committee and the 


Nominations Committee.  John is one of Australian Rugby Union's delegates on the 


International Rugby Board Council and a member of the SANZAR UJV Executive 


Committee.  John is a Director of Echo Entertainment Limited.  He is a former CEO of 


Football Federation Australia from 2004 to 2006, former Chairman of Events New South 


Wales and was MD & CEO of the State Bank of NSW, from 1987 to 1995.  John is a 


qualified solicitor, and a Foundation Fellow of the Australian Institute of Company Directors 


and a Fellow of the Australia Institute of Bankers. 


 


10 John Eales AM 


Non-Executive Director 


John joined the Board in April 2010 and is a member of the Nominations Committee. John 


participated in two successful World Cup campaigns; captained the Wallabies in victories 


including the 1999 World Cup; led Australia through three Bledisloe Cup wins and two 


successful seasons of Tri-Nations fixtures and also led the Wallabies to the first series 


victory over the British and Irish Lions.  


John is a founding Partner of Mettle Group, which was acquired by publicly-listed company 


Chandler Macleod, for whom he continues in an executive role. John is a director of 


International Quarterback, a corporate hospitality and event management firm; GRM 


International, a project management firm in the field of international aid and development; 


and the Sports Australia Hall of Fame. John is an Ambassador for Qantas, Lexus and the 


Australian Indigenous Education Foundation. In 2004 and 2008 (and again for London in 


2012) John attended the Olympics as an Athlete Liaison Officer for the Australian Team.  


 


11 Dr Brett Robinson 


MBBS, Dr. Phil (Oxon) 


Non-Executive Director 


Brett joined the ARU Board in April 2011.  Brett was the inaugural captain of the ACT 


Brumbies in the Super 12 competition and in total, played 16 test matches for the national 


rugby union team.  From 2002 to 2005 he was the General Manager of Australian Rugby 


Union‟s High Performance Unit.   


Brett has recently been appointed to the role of Managing Director & CEO of the Integrated 


Oncology Network (ICON) to lead the expansion of their day oncology network and to 


deliver on a vision to establish comprehensive cancer services nationally.  Prior to this Brett 


was the Australian CEO for Mondial Assistance and this was preceded by executive 


management roles with Insurance Australia Group (IAG), with responsibility for its key 


brands of NRMA, CGU and Swann in QLD.  


 


Brett is registered to practice in Queensland and continues to assist Orthopaedic colleagues 


in advanced joint replacement surgery.  Brett remains actively involved in clinical research 


and supervises a PhD student at the ANU. 
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Directors‟ report (continued)
 


For the year ended 31 December 2011 


2. Company Secretary 


Ashley Selwood B.Bus, MBA, FCPA, ACIS was appointed Company Secretary in May 1998 and has held the position 


until his resignation on 16
th
 September 2011.  Ashley is a member of Chartered Secretaries Australia. 


Nick Weeks B.Com, LLB (Hons), joined the Company in 2006 and was appointed Company Secretary in 2007.  He held 


the role as an alternate until Ashley Resigned in September 2011. Since Ashley‟s resignation he takes on primary 


capacity of the role. In addition to Nick‟s role as Company Secretary he is the Company‟s General Manager of Strategy, 


Corporate Affairs and Legal.   Before joining the ARU, Nick worked with Allens Arthur Robinson in Sydney and Cravath, 


Swaine & Moore LLP in New York.  


3. Directors’ meeting 


The number of directors‟ meetings (including meetings of committees of directors) and number of meetings attended by 


each of the directors of the Company during the financial year are: 


 


Director 
Board 


Meetings 


Audit 
Committee 
Meetings 


Human 
Resources 
Committee 
Meetings 


Governance & 
Policy 


Committee 
Meetings 


Nominations 
Committee 
Meetings 


 A B A B A B A B A B 


Mr P McGrath 7 7   2 2     


Mr M Brown 2 2         


Mr M Connors 7 7 3 3       


Gen. P Cosgrove 4 5         


Mr J Eales 6 7         


Mr R Lee 7 7   2 2     


Mr J Mumm 7 7 3 3 2 2     


Mr J O'Neill 7 7         


Mr R McGruther 2 2 1 1       


Mr M Hawker 7 7 2 2       


Dr B Robinson 4 5         


           
        A  -  Number of 
Meetings Attended       


 
   


        B  -  Reflects 
the number of 
meetings held 
during the time the 
Director held office 
during the year 


 


     


 


   


       


 


4. Principal activities 


The Company‟s principal activities in the financial year were the promotion, efficiency, progress, development and 


general governance of the game of rugby.  


No significant change in the nature of this activity occurred during the year. 


The Special Executive Committee (SEC) of the Queensland Rugby Union (QRU) was established as a requirement of 


the Facility Agreement between the Company and QRU. The Committee is made up of appointments from both 


companies. The Company‟s appointments on the Committee include: one Non-Executive Director, the Company‟s 


Managing Director and two Executives of the Company. 


The Committee met nine times during the year. 
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Directors‟ report (continued)
 


For the year ended 31 December 2011 


5. Review of operations 


The operating deficit for the financial year before allocations and other payments to Member Unions was a deficit of 


$2,337,000 (2010: surplus $7,146,000).  


The deficit, and the significant variance from the 2010 surplus, was a direct result of the IRB‟s scheduling of Rugby World 


Cup 2011 in New Zealand which materially impacted current year net revenues. With no June inbound test series and a 


truncated Tri-Nations series, there were four less home test matches for the Wallabies to generate revenues. The direct 


financial impost of this reduced schedule was $16m with reductions in matchday and broadcast revenues being the 


major contributors. However, through the 2011 budget process ARU Board and management instigated certain initiatives 


to significantly mitigate the impact of this substantially reduced schedule.  


Allocations to Member Unions for coaching and development were $5,185,000 (2010:$6,080,000). 


The net deficit for the financial year after allocations and other payments to Member Unions was $7,522,000 (2010: 


surplus $1,066,000).  


6. Events subsequent to reporting date 


In the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this report, no item, transaction or event of a material 


and unusual nature has arisen, in the opinion of the Directors of the Company, to affect significantly the operations of the 


Company, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Company in future financial years.  


7. Environmental regulations 


The Company‟s operations are not subject to any significant environmental regulations under either Commonwealth or 


State Legislation. 


8. Indemnification and insurance of officers 


In accordance with the Company‟s Constitution, the Company must indemnify both current and former Directors for all 


losses and liabilities incurred by the person as an officer of the Company incurred in defending proceedings, whether civil 


or criminal, in which judgement is given in favour of the person or in which the person is acquitted; or in relation to such 


proceedings in which the Court grants relief to the person under the Corporations Act 2001. 


In respect to this indemnity, the Company has paid insurance premiums of $20,000 in respect of Directors and Officers of 


the Company. The insurance policies do not contain details of the premiums paid in respect of individual Directors or 


Officers of the Company. 


9. Lead auditor’s independence declaration 


The Lead auditor‟s independence declaration is set out on page 6 and forms part of the Directors‟ report for the financial 


year ended 31 December 2011. 


10. Rounding off 


The Company is of a kind referred to in ASIC Class Order 98/100 dated 10 July 1998 and in accordance with that Class 


Order, amounts in the financial report and directors‟ report have been rounded off to the nearest thousand dollars, unless 


otherwise stated. 


 
By order of the Board 


      
____________________________     __________________________ 


P. McGrath       J. O’Neill 


Director        Director 


 


Dated at Sydney this 30
th


 day of March 2012. 
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Income statement      
For the year ended 31 December 2011 
 


     


 Note 2011 2010   


  $’000 $’000   


Revenue      


Broadcasting licence fees  28,160 20,286   


Sponsorships  21,212 23,039   


Net gate takings  9,935 20,679   


Corporate hospitality  2,543 4,042   


Licensing revenue  1,483 1,215   


Government grants  1,235 339   


Affiliation fees  - 21   


IRB grants  4,207 2,204   


Other income  26 249   


      


Total revenue  68,801 72,074   


      


Operating expenditure       


Commercial operations  12,876 12,366   


Corporate services  7,611 8,652   


Community rugby  3,623 3,274   


High performance and National teams  11,255 11,584   


Super Rugby grants and player payments  33,709 30,537   


SANZAR costs  3,830 3,382   


      


Total operating expenditure  72,904 69,795   


      


Operating surplus/(deficit) before financing income  (4,103) 2,279   


      


Dividends received  1 47   


Foreign exchange gain/(loss)   891 4,330   


Net interest income/(expense)  956 643   


      


Financing income/(expense)  1,848 5,020   


      


Surplus/(deficit) after financing income  (2,255) 7,299   


      


Share of profit/(loss) of jointly controlled entity 21i (82) (153)   


      


Surplus/(deficit) before tax  (2,337) 7,146   


      


Income tax expense 4 - -   


      


Surplus/(deficit) for the period  (2,337) 7,146   


      


Allocations to Member Unions & Affiliates 17 (5,185) (6,080)   


      


Net surplus/(deficit) for the period 22(a) (7,522) 1,066   


  


 


 


 


The income statement is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements set out on pages 12 to 25.  
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Statement of comprehensive income  
 For the year ended 31 December 2011      


      


 Note 2011 2010   


  $’000 $’000   


      


      


Surplus/(deficit) for the period  (7,522) 1,066   


      


Other comprehensive income      


Net change in fair value of cash flow hedges transferred to profit and loss  (5,694) 2,370   


Net change in fair value of cash flow hedges taken to equity  - 6,021   


Revaluation of property, plant and equipment 9 40 -   


Total other comprehensive income for the period  (5,654) 8,391   


      


      


      


Total comprehensive income for the period  (13,176) 9,457   


      


There were no movements in equity arising from transactions with owners as owners. 


 


 


 


 


 


 


The statement of comprehensive income is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements 


set out on pages 12 to 25.  
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Statement of financial position     
As at 31 December 2011      


      


 Note 2011 2010   
  $’000 $’000   
Current assets      


Cash and cash equivalents 5 5,474 21,317   


Trade and other receivables 6 16,137 9,691   


Other assets  7 681 1,080   


Financial assets 8 1,702 8,704   


Total current assets  23,994 40,792   


      


Non-current assets      


Trade and other receivables 6 5,784 1,670   


Property, plant and equipment 9 1,514 1,309   


Intangible assets 10 1,383 -   


Financial assets 8 609 -   


Investment in Joint Venture 11 1,022 311   


Total non-current assets  10,312 3,290   


      


Total assets  34,306 44,082   


      


Current liabilities      


Trade and other payables 12 7,675 6,476   


Deferred revenue 13 4,430 7,612   


Employee benefits 15 779 506   


Financial liabilities 16 35 -   


Total current liabilities  12,919 14,594   


      


Non-current liabilities      


Deferred revenue 13 4,978 -   


Other liabilities 14 200 200   


Employee benefits 15 191 136   


Financial liabilities 16 42 -   


Total non-current liabilities  5,411 336   


      


Total liabilities  18,330 14,930   


      


Net assets  15,976 29,152   


      


Equity      


       


Retained surplus  8,403 15,925   


Realised cash flow hedge reserve  6,021 6,021   
Total capital position  14,424 21,946   


Asset revaluation reserve  903 863   


Unrealised cash flow hedge reserve  649 6,343   
Total equity  15,976  29,152   


 


 


The statement of financial position is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements set out on pages 12 to 25. 
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Statement of changes in equity      


For the year ended 31 December 2011       


    


 
Retained earnings 


Asset revaluation 


reserve 


Cash flow hedge 


reserve realised 


Cash flow hedge 


reserve unrealised 


Contributed 


equity 
Total equity 


 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 


Balance at beginning of 
period 15,925 14,859 863 863 6,021 - 6,343 3,973 - - 29,152 19,695 


             


Total comprehensive 
income for the period  


            


Net surplus/(deficit) for 
the year (7,522) 1,066 - - - - - - - - (7,522) 1,066 


             


Other comprehensive 
income 


            


Net change in fair value 
of cash flow hedge 
transferred to profit and 
loss - - - - - - (5,694) 2,370 - - (5,694) 2,370 


 
Net change in fair value 
of cash flow hedge 
transferred to equity - - - - - 6,021 - - - - - 6,021 


 
Revaluation of property, 
plant and equipment 


- - 40 - - - - - - - 40 - 


             


Total comprehensive 
income for the period (7,522) 1,066 40 - - 6,021 (5,694) 2,370 - - (13,176) 9,457 


             


Balance at end of 
period 8,403 15,925 903 863 6,021 6,021 649 6,343 - - 15,976 29,152 


  The statement of changes in equity is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements set out on pages 12 to 25. 


The Company is a Company Limited by guarantee and, in the event of the winding up of the Company, members may be required to contribute a maximum of $100 each. 
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Statement of cash flows 
For the year ended 31 December 2011      


      


 Note 2011 2010   


  $’000 $’000   
Cash flows from operating activities      
Cash receipts in the course of operations   54,200 68,998   


Cash payments in the course of operations  (64,442) (60,829)   


      


Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities 22(a) (10,242) 8,169   


      


Cash flows from investing activities      


Dividends received  1 47   


Net interest received  1,031 643   


Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment   - -   


Proceeds from sale of shares  - 1,554   


Payments for property, plant and equipment  (425) (234)   


Payments for intangibles  (1,400) -   


      


Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities  (793) 2,010   


      


Cash flows from financing activities      


Payments for foreign exchange options  - (1,821)   


Proceeds from sale foreign exchange contracts  - 6,021   


Proceeds from sale of options 
Allocations to Member Unions & Affiliates  


377 


(5,185) 


- 


(6,080) 


  


      


Net cash (used in)/ from financing activities  (4,808) (1,880)   
      


Net increase/(decrease) in cash held   (15,843) 8,299   


      


Cash at beginning of year   21,317 13,018   
      


Cash at end of year  22(b) 5,474 21,317   


      
The statement of cash flows is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements set out on pages 12 to 25. 
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Notes to the financial statements 


For the year ended 31 December 2011 


 Note 1. Statement of significant accounting policies (continued) 


Australian Rugby Union Limited (the „Company‟) is a company domiciled in Australia. In the opinion of the 


directors it is not a reporting entity as there are unlikely to exist users of the financial report who are unable 


to command the preparation of reports tailored so as to satisfy specifically all of their information needs. 


Accordingly, this special purpose financial report has been prepared to satisfy the directors‟ reporting 


requirements under the Corporations Act 2001. This special purpose financial report was authorised for 


issue by the directors on 30th March 2012. 


(a) Statement of compliance 


The financial report is a special purpose financial report which has been prepared in accordance with the 


Corporations Act 2001, the recognition and measurement aspects of all applicable Australian Accounting 


Standards adopted by the Australian Accounting Standards Board („AASB‟),  the disclosure requirements 


of AASB101 Presentation of Financial Statements, AASB107 Cash Flow Statements, AASB108 Accounting 


Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors and AASB1048 Interpretation and Application of 


Standards.   


(b) Basis of preparation 


The financial report is presented in Australian dollars. 


The financial report is prepared on the historical cost basis except that financial instruments are valued at 


fair value through the profit and loss as well as derivative financial instruments and memorabilia which are 


measured at fair value. 


The Company is of a kind referred to in ASIC Class Order 98/100 dated 10 July 1998 (updated by CO 


05/641 effective 28 July 2005 and CO 06/51 effective 31 January 2006) and in accordance with that Class 


Order, amounts in the financial report and Directors‟ Report have been rounded off to the nearest thousand 


dollars, unless otherwise stated.  


The preparation of a financial report in conformity with Australian Accounting Standards requires 


management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and 


reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated 


assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be 


reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the judgements about 


carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.  Actual results may 


differ from these estimates.   


The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  Revisions to accounting 


estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that 


period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future 


periods.  


The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently by the Company to all periods 


presented in the financial report.   


The Company has reported a “total capital position” on the statement of financial position.  This 
measure captures realised equity positions of the organisation and excludes unrealised changes in net 
asset values that are recorded in equity including cash flow hedge reserve and asset revaluation 
reserve.  This is the measure the Board and management uses to assess the net asset backing of the 
organisation. 


(c) Changes in accounting policy 


In the current year, the Company has not adopted any revised standards issued by the Australian 


Accounting Standards Board (AASB) as none are relevant to its operations in the current financial year.   


(d) Associates and Joint Ventures 


In the financial statements, investments in jointly controlled entities are accounted for using equity 


accounting principles.  Investments in joint venture entities are carried at the lower of the equity accounted 


amount and recoverable amount. 
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Notes to the financial statements 


For the year ended 31 December 2011 


 Note 1. Statement of significant accounting policies (continued) 


The entity‟s share of the jointly controlled entity‟s net profit or loss is recognised in the income statement 


from the date joint control commenced until the date joint control ceases. 


(e) Foreign currency 


  Foreign currency transactions 


Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rate prevailing at the date of the 


transaction or applicable foreign exchange contract rate.  Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 


foreign currencies at the balance sheet date are translated to Australian dollars at the foreign exchange 


rate ruling at that date.  Foreign exchange differences arising on translation are recognised in the income 


statement.  Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign 


currency are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Foreign currency differences 


arising on translation are recognised in the income statement except for differences arising on qualifying 


cash flow hedges, which are recognised in other comprehensive income.  Non-monetary assets and 


liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are translated to Australian dollars 


at foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair value was determined. 


(f) Financial instruments 


 i Derivative financial instruments 


The Company uses derivative financial instruments to hedge its exposure to foreign exchange arising from 


operational activities. The Company does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for trading 


purposes. 


Derivative financial instruments are recognised initially at fair value.  Subsequent to initial recognition, 


derivative financial instruments are stated at fair value.  The gain or loss on re-measurement to fair value is 


recognised immediately in profit or loss.  However, where derivatives qualify for hedge accounting, 


recognition of any resultant gain or loss depends on the nature of the item being hedged (see accounting 


policy (g)). 


The fair value of forward exchange contracts is their quoted market price at the balance sheet date, being 


the present value of the quoted forward price. 


 ii Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss 


An instrument is classified as at fair value through profit or loss if it is held for trading or is designated as 


such upon initial recognition. Financial instruments are designated at fair value through profit or loss if the 


Company manages such investments and makes purchase and sale decisions based on their fair value in 


accordance with the Company‟s risk management or investment strategy. Upon initial recognition, 


attributable transaction costs are recognised in profit or loss when incurred. Financial instruments at fair 


value through profit or loss are measured at fair value, and changes therein are recognised in profit or loss. 


(g) Hedging 


  Cash flow hedges 


On entering into a hedging relationship, the Company formally designates and documents the hedge 


relationship and the risk management objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge.  The 


documentation includes identification of the hedging instrument, the hedged item or transaction, the nature 


of the risk being hedged and how the entity will assess the hedging instrument‟s effectiveness in offsetting 


the exposure to changes in the hedged item‟s fair value or cash flows attributable to the hedged risk.  Such 


hedges are expected to be highly effective in achieving offsetting changes in fair value or cash flows and 


are assessed on an ongoing basis to determine that they actually have been highly effective throughout the 


financial reporting periods for which they are designated. 


 


Where a derivative financial instrument is designated as a hedge of the variability in cash flows of a 


recognised asset or liability, or a highly probable forecasted transaction, the effective part of any gain or 


loss on the derivative financial instrument is recognised directly in equity. 







 


 


Page 14 


Notes to the financial statements 


For the year ended 31 December 2011 


 Note 1. Statement of significant accounting policies (continued) 


(g)   Hedging (continued) 


  Cash flow hedges (continued) 


When the forecasted transaction subsequently results in the recognition of a non-financial asset or non-


financial liability, or the forecast transaction for a non-financial asset or non-financial liability, the associated 


cumulative gain or loss is removed from equity and included in the initial cost or other carrying amount of 


the non-financial asset or liability.  If a hedge of a forecasted transaction subsequently results in the 


recognition of a financial asset or a financial liability, the associated gains and losses that were recognised 


directly in equity are reclassified into profit or loss in the same period or periods during which the asset 


acquired or liability assumed affects profit or loss (i.e. when broadcasting or match fee revenue is 


recognised). 


For cash flow hedges other than those covered by the preceding two policy statements, the associated 


cumulative gain or loss is removed from equity and recognised in the income statement in the same period 


or periods during which the hedged forecast transaction affects profit or loss.  The ineffective part of any 


gain or loss is recognised immediately in the income statement.   


When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised, or the entity revokes designation of 


the hedge relationship, but the hedged forecast transaction is still expected to occur, the cumulative gain or 


loss at that point remains in equity and is recognised when the forecast transaction is ultimately recognised 


in the income statement.  If the hedged transaction is no longer expected to take place, the cumulative 


unrealised gain or loss recognised in equity is recognised immediately in the income statement. 


The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow 


hedges are recognised in equity. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised 


immediately in the income statement within „increase/ (decrease) in fair value of financial instruments‟. 


The gain or loss relating to the effective portion of forward foreign exchange contracts hedging receipts is 


recognised in the income statement within „revenue‟. 


  


(h) Property, plant and equipment 


 i Owned assets 


Items of plant and equipment are measured at cost or deemed cost less accumulated depreciation (see 


below) and impairment losses (see accounting policy (m)).  


Items of memorabilia are measured at fair value less accumulated depreciation (see below) and 


impairment losses (see accounting policy (m)).  


Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for 


as separate items of property, plant and equipment.  


 ii Subsequent costs 


The Company recognises in the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment the cost of 


replacing part of such an item when that cost is incurred if it is probable that the future economic benefits 


embodied within the item will flow to the Company and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.  All 


other costs are recognised in the income statement as an expense as incurred. 


 iii Depreciation 


Depreciation is charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of 


each part of an item of property, plant and equipment, the depreciable amount being cost less residual 


value.  


The estimated useful lives in the current and comparative periods are as follows: 


 Plant and equipment   2 - 20 years 


 Memorabilia   40 years 


The residual value, the useful life and the depreciation method applied to an asset are reassessed at least 


annually. 
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Notes to the financial statements 


For the year ended 31 December 2011 


 Note 1. Statement of significant accounting policies (continued) 


(i)      Intangible assets 


Intangible assets include the cost of intellectual property and software.  Amortisation is charged to the 


income statement on a straight line basis over the estimated useful lives of software assets.  Intangible 


assets are amortised from the date they are available for use. 


The estimated useful life in the current and comparative period is as follows: 


 Intellectual Property Indefinite 


 Software   3 years 


These are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation.  The carrying amount of expenditure on 


intangibles is reviewed at the end of each financial year and where the balance exceeds the value of the 


expected future benefits, the difference is charged to the income statement. 


(j)      Trade and other receivables 


Trade and other receivables are stated at their amortised cost less impairment losses (see accounting 


policy (m)). 


(k)      Consumables 


Stocks of coaching manuals, law books and other items which are held for resale are recognised as 


consumables.  Consumables also comprises stocks of consumables including uniforms, footwear, player 


sustenance and other rugby equipment which are used by the Company in the ordinary conduct of its 


business. 


Consumables are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.  Net realisable value is the estimated 


selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated selling expenses. 


The cost of other consumables is based on the first-in first-out principle and includes expenditure incurred 


in acquiring the consumables and bringing them to their existing location and condition. 


(l)      Cash and cash equivalents 


Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits.  Bank overdrafts that are repayable 


on demand and form an integral part of the Company‟s cash management are included as a component of 


cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the Statement of Cashflows. 


(m)      Impairment 


The carrying amount of the Company‟s assets, are reviewed at each balance sheet date to determine 


whether there is any indication of impairment.  If any such indication exists, the asset‟s recoverable amount 


is estimated (see accounting policy (m) i). 


An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit 


exceeds its recoverable amount.  Impairment losses are recognised in the income statement, unless an 


asset has previously been re-valued, in which case the impairment loss is recognised as a reversal to the 


extent of that previous revaluation with any excess recognised through profit or loss. 
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Notes to the financial statements 


For the year ended 31 December 2011 


 Note 1. Statement of significant accounting policies (continued) 


(m) Impairment (continued) 


 i Calculation of recoverable amount 


The recoverable amount of the Company‟s held-to-maturity receivables carried at amortised cost is 


calculated as the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest 


rate (i.e. the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition of these financial assets).  Receivables 


with a short duration are not discounted. 


Impairment of receivables is not recognised until objective evidence is available that a loss event has 


occurred.  Significant receivables are individually assessed for impairment.  Impairment testing of 


significant receivables that are not assessed as impaired individually is performed by placing them into 


portfolios of significant receivables with similar risk profiles and undertaking a collective assessment of 


impairment.  Non-significant receivables are not individually assessed.  Instead, impairment testing is 


performed by placing non-significant receivables in portfolios of similar risk profiles, based on objective 


evidence from historical experience adjusted for any effects of conditions existing at each balance sheet 


date. 


The recoverable amount of other assets is the greater of their fair value less costs to sell and value in use.  


In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a 


pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks 


specific to the asset. For an asset that does not generate largely independent cash inflows, the recoverable 


amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.  


ii Reversals of impairment 


An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset‟s carrying amount does not exceed the 


carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment 


loss had been recognised. 


(n) Employee benefits 


 i Defined contribution superannuation funds 


Obligations for contributions to defined contribution superannuation funds are recognised as an expense in 


the income statement as incurred. 


 ii Long-term service benefits 


The Company‟s net obligation in respect of long-term service benefits, other than pension plans is the 


amount of future benefit that employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior 


periods plus related on-costs.  


 iii Wages, salaries, annual leave, sick leave and non-monetary benefits 


The provisions for employee benefits to wages, salaries, annual leave and sick leave represent the amount 


that the Company has a present obligation to pay resulting from employees‟ services provided up to 


reporting date.  The provisions have been calculated at undiscounted amounts based on remuneration 


wage and salary rates that the Company expects to pay as at reporting date including related on-costs, 


such as workers compensation insurance and payroll tax. 


Non-accumulating non-monetary benefits are expensed based on the net marginal cost to the Company as 
the benefits are taken by the employees. 


(o) Provisions 


A provision is recognised in the balance sheet when the Company has a present legal or constructive 


obligation as a result of a past event which can be reliably measured, and it is probable that an outflow of 


economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation.  Provisions are determined by discounting the 


expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of 


money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. 


(p) Trade and other payables 


Trade and other payables are stated at their amortised cost. 


Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 45-day terms or less. 
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Notes to the financial statements 


For the year ended 31 December 2011 


 Note 1. Statement of significant accounting policies (continued) 


(q) Revenue 


 i Goods sold and services rendered 


Revenue is recognised in the income statement when persuasive evidence exists, usually in the form of an 


executed sales agreement, that the significant risks and rewards have been transferred to the buyer.  The 


primary sources of the Company‟s revenue relate to broadcasting rights, sponsorship properties and match 


ticket sales.  Broadcasting and sponsorship revenue is recognised in line with the terms specified in the 


relevant contracts.  Revenue from ticket sales is recognised at the time the match is played.  No revenue is 


recognised if there are significant uncertainties regarding recovery of the consideration due, the costs 


incurred or to be incurred cannot be measured reliably, there is a risk of return of goods or there is 


continuing management involvement with the goods or service. 


 


ii Grants 


Grants are considered non-reciprocal transfers to the Company. Grants that compensate the Company for 


expenses incurred or which contribute to the cost of a capital expenditure are recognised immediately as 


revenue when there is reasonable assurance that the Company has obtained control of the grant or the 


right to receive it.  Grants expected to be received on a multi-year public policy agreement are recognised 


as revenue when the Company has met the conditions or provided the services that make it eligible to 


receive the grant. 


(r) Expenses 


 i Operating lease payments 


Payments made under operating leases are recognised in the income statement on a straight-line basis 


over the term of the lease.  Lease incentives received are recognised in the income statement as an 


integral part of the total lease expense, over the term of the lease. 


 ii Net financing costs 


Net financing costs comprise interest payable on borrowings calculated using the effective interest method, 


interest receivable on funds invested, foreign exchange gains and losses, and gains and losses on hedging 


instruments that are recognised in the income statement (see accounting policy (f)).  


Interest income is recognised in the income statement as it accrues, using the effective interest method. 


(s) Income tax 


The Company is exempt from income tax under the terms of Division 50 of the Income Tax Assessment 


Act 1997. 


(t) Goods and services tax 


Revenue, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST), except 


where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority.  In these circumstances, 


the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense. 


Receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included.  The net amount of GST 


recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO is included as a current asset or liability in the balance sheet. 


Cash flows are included in the Statement of Cash Flows on a gross basis.  The GST components of cash 


flows arising from investing and financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO are 


classified as operating cash flows. 
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Notes to the financial statements 


For the year ended 31 December 2011 


  Note 2. Other expenses 


  2011 2010 


  $’000 $’000 


Employee benefits    


Wages and salaries  12,848 11,439 


Superannuation  974 898 


Total employee benefits  13,822 12,337 


 


 
   


Amortisation   17 - 


Depreciation of Plant and equipment  261 210 


Total amortisation and depreciation  278 210 


    


    


Net (benefit) from movements in provision for employee 


entitlements 
 328 170 


Operating lease rental expense payments  1,609 1,412 


 Note 3. Auditors’ remuneration 


  $ $ 


Audit services    


Auditors of the Company - KPMG     


 Audit of the financial report – current  54,550 68,400 


    


Other services    


Auditors of the Company – KPMG    


 Other assurance services  6,800 4,200 


    


  61,350 72,600 


 Note 4. Income Tax 


The Company is exempt from income tax in Australia under the terms of Division 50 of the Income Tax 


Assessment Act 1997.The Company did not have any Tax Expense from revenue earned from 


overseas activities. 


  Note 5. Cash and cash equivalents 


  $’000 $’000 


Cash at bank and on hand   3,435 11,826 


Cash on deposit   2,039 9,491 


Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of cash flows    


5,474 


 


21,317 
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Notes to the financial statements 


For the year ended 31 December 2011 


 Note 6. Trade and other receivables 


  2011 2010 


  $’000 $’000 


Current    


Trade receivables  8,190 3,602 


Member unions receivables  108 404 


Loan to Queensland Rugby Union **  783 820 


Other receivables  7,056 4,865 


  16,137 9,691 


Non-current    


Loans to Member Unions:  $’000 $’000 


ACT Rugby Union  427 427 


Northern Territory Rugby Union  80 80 


Queensland Rugby Union **  750 1,270 


South Australian Rugby Union  - 42 


Tasmanian Rugby Union  17 17 


Other receivables  4,634 - 


Provision for doubtful debts 


 


 


(124) 


5,784 


 


(166) 


1,670 


** The Company extended a 4 year interest bearing facility of $3,000,000 to Queensland Rugby Union 


(QRU).  The loan commenced on 13th August 2010 and is secured by a second right of charge being 


the real property mortgage over Ballymore and repayable in annual $750,000 tranches. At 31st 


December 2011 the loan was drawn to $1,500,000. Post 31 December 2011, the QRU has formally 


indicated their intention to repay the loan in full in 2012 and expire the facility with the Company. 


Note 7.  Other assets 


  $’000 $’000 


Current    


Consumables  66 66 


Prepayments  615 1,014 


  681 1,080 


 Note 8.  Financial assets 


  $’000 $’000 


Current    


Foreign exchange options*  1,662 1,671  


Foreign exchange forward contracts  40 7,033 


  1,702 8,704 


Non-Current    


Foreign exchange forward contracts  609 - 


  609 - 


* The foreign exchange options refer to the fair value of USD currency options at 31st December 2011 at 


a strike price of $1.05. The options purchase is intended to hedge the exposure to any adverse effects of 


foreign currency (AUD/USD) volatility in relation to broadcasting revenue to be received between 2012 


and 2015. 
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Notes to the financial statements 


For the year ended 31 December 2011 


 Note 9.  Property, plant and equipment 


  2011 2010 
  $’000 $’000 


Memorabilia    


At fair value  927 887 


Accumulated depreciation  (45) (22) 


Total memorabilia  882 865 


    


Plant and equipment    


At cost  2,095 2,111 


Accumulated depreciation  (1,463) (1,667) 


Total plant and equipment  632 444 


Total property, plant and equipment (net book value)  1,514 1,309 


 


During 2011, additional memorabilia assets were donated to the company and have been independently 
valued at $40,100 by a valuations specialist. 


 Note 10. Intangibles 


  $’000 $’000 


Intellectual Property *  1,300 - 


Software **  100 - 


Accumulated amortisation  (17) - 


  1,383 - 


 


* In 2011, the Company acquired the intellectual property rights of the Melbourne Rebels' Club property 


in respect of the Super Rugby competition at a cost of $1,300,000. The Board have determined an 


indefinite useful life for the intangible asset; as a result, it will be tested annually for impairment. At 31st 


December 2011 the intellectual property asset was found to have no indications of impairment. 


 


** In July 2011, the Company purchased computer software at a cost $100,000. This will be amortised 


over 3 years in line with its expected useful life. 


 


 Note 11. Interest in joint venture 


  $’000 $’000 


Investment in SANZAR Europe S.a.r.l.  1,104 464 


Share of profit/(loss) for the current period  (106) (153) 


  998 311 


 


Investment in SANZAR Pty Ltd 


 


- - 


Share of profit/(loss) for the current period  24  


  24 - 


  1,022 311 


 Note 12. Trade and other payables 


  $’000 $’000 


Trade creditors  3,786 1,687 


Member Union creditors and accruals  197 504 


Other creditors and accruals  3,692 4,285 


  7,675 6,476 
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Notes to the financial statements 


For the year ended 31 December 2011 


   Note 13.  Deferred revenue 


  2011 2010 
  $’000 $’000 


Current    


Test match revenue  1,693 1,087 


Broadcasting license fees  1,666 5,475 


Sponsorships  250 750 


Government grants  432 - 


Other  389 300 


  4,430 7,612 


Non-current    


Broadcast license fees  4,978 - 


  4,978 - 


 Note 14. Other liabilities 


  2011 2010 
  $’000 $’000 


Non-current    


Provision for make good  200 200 


  200 200 


 Note 15.  Employee benefits 


  $’000 $’000 


Current    


Annual leave  404 243 


Long service leave  375 263 


  779 506 


Non-Current    


Long service leave  191 136 


  191 136 


  970 642 


Superannuation 


The Company contributes on behalf of employees to externally managed defined contribution 


superannuation plans. Benefits are based upon the accumulation of assets in these plans. The value of 


contributions remitted during the period was $974,000 (2010 $898,000). 


 


 Note 16. Financial liabilities 


  $’000 $’000 


Current    


Financial Lease *  35 - 


    


Non-Current    


Financial Lease *  42 - 


  77 - 


* The finance lease is in relation to the purchase of computer software in 2011 which has been 


capitalised as an intangible asset (see Note 10). The finance lease expires in February 2013. 
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Notes to the financial statements 


For the year ended 31 December 2011 


    Note 17.  Allocations to Member Unions & Affiliates 


  2011 2010 
   $’000 $’000 


Queensland Rugby Union Ltd  2,047 2,257 


New South Wales Rugby Union Ltd*  1,276 1,806 


Australian Rugby Football Schools Union  500 500 


Victoria Rugby Union Inc  325 425 


ACT & Southern NSW Rugby Union Ltd  295 295 


Western Australia Rugby Union Inc  200 260 


Northern Territory Rugby Union Inc  225 225 


South Australian Rugby Union Ltd  225 225 


Tasmanian Rugby Union Inc  55 55 


Other  37 32 


Total  5,185 6,080 


*  Allocation to New South Wales Rugby Union for 2011 represents grant funding for Premier Rugby. In 2010, 


the funding includes the last tranche of funding supplied under the previous Community Rugby funding model. 


Community rugby development in NSW now forms part of ARU‟s community rugby operations. 


Note 18.Commitments 


 a) Broadcasting Agreements 


The Company, together with New Zealand Rugby Union and South African Rugby Football Union has 


entered into agreements for the period 2011 to 2015 inclusive. These broadcasting agreements commit 


the Company to provide five teams for the Super Rugby Competition and also to provide for Test 


matches as part of the Tri- Nations and Rugby Championship competitions and the June window for 


the period of the agreement. 


 b) SANZAR Joint Venture 


The Company has given certain undertakings in respect to its participation in the SANZAR joint 


venture.  These undertakings are consistent with its undertakings in the broadcasting agreements and 


continue under the new broadcasting agreements for the 2011 to 2015 period. 


 c) Collective Bargaining Agreement  


A Collective Bargaining Agreement has been negotiated between the Company, New South Wales 


Rugby Union Ltd, Queensland Rugby Union Ltd, Australian Capital Territory and Southern New South 


Wales Rugby Union Ltd, West Australian Rugby Union Inc and Rugby Union Players Association Inc.   


Under this agreement the Company, along with the other rugby bodies is required to make minimum 


player payments.  The parties are negotiating a new agreement for 2012 and beyond. 


 d)  Participation Agreements, Professional Rugby Agreements and Community 


Rugby Grants  


The Company has entered into Participation Agreements and Professional Rugby Agreements with the 


entities responsible for the five teams competing in the Super Rugby competition from 2011.  


The total amounts payable by the Company for 2012 would be as follows: 


  $’000  


Professional Rugby    


Participation Agreements  12,790  


Professional Rugby Agreements  8,000  


  20,790  


Further, the Company has non-binding arrangements in relation 


to Community Rugby as follows: 


 


  


   


Premier Rugby Grants  1,798 


Community Rugby Grants  3,060 


  4,858 


25,648 
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Notes to the financial statements 


For the year ended 31 December 2011 


 


 e)  Operating lease commitments 


 2011 2010 
 $’000 $’000 


Less than one year 1,664 1,607 


Between one and five years 6,930 6,227 


More than five years 1,737 4,730 


 10,331 12,564 


 


The Company leases property under non-cancellable operating leases.  The leases will expire within 


six years.  Leases generally provide the Company a right of renewal at which time all terms are 


renegotiated. Lease payments comprise a base amount plus an incremental rental based on 


movements in the Consumer Price Index. 


The Company leases motor vehicles under operating leases expiring within four years. Lease 


payments are fixed for the term of the leases.   


 Note 19. Contingent liabilities 


The Company is defendant in a number of claims for personal injuries and other damages relating to 


the game of rugby.  These claims are being defended and generally are subject to insurance coverage.  


At this time the Directors are unable to ascertain what the Company‟s liability, if any, may be. 


 Note 20. Investment in jointly controlled entities  


 i SANZAR Pty Limited 
The Company has a 33% interest in SANZAR Pty Limited (ACN 069 272 304).  The primary purpose of 


SANZAR Pty Limited is to manage the Super Rugby, Tri Nations and Rugby Champion rugby 


competitions in the Southern Hemisphere as well as the associated broadcasting agreements. 


 


The assets and liabilities of SANZAR Pty Limited were not material as at 31 December 2011 and the 


Company‟s interests are valued at $24,000 (2010: nil). See Note 11. 


All of the obligations of the venturers arising from or attributable to the entity are several only and not 


joint and several.  


 ii Rugby Shared Services Pty Ltd 


The Company has a 50% interest in Rugby Shared Services Pty Ltd (ACN 139 655 413) (RSS) which 


was established on 24 September 2009. The primary purpose of Rugby Shared Services Pty Ltd is to 


facilitate and develop efficiencies across various rugby operations.  


The assets and liabilities of Rugby Shared Services Pty Ltd were not material as at 31 December 2011 


and the Company‟s interests were therefore not consolidated in the Company‟s financial statements.  


Rugby Shared Services Pty Ltd net results as at 31 December 2011 were not material. Consequently, 


the Company‟s interests were not consolidated in the Company‟s financial statements. 


 Note 21.  Interest in joint ventures 


 i SANZAR Europe S.a.r.l. 


The Company has a 33% interest in SANZAR Europe.  This investee was established in conjunction 


with New Zealand Rugby Union and South African Rugby Union, to develop a European operation to 


facilitate sales in the European broadcasting market.  Based on an evaluation of the risks and rewards 


of the investee it is not consolidated by the Company.  The Company and other investors all provided 


an equal portion of the loan to the investee for start up purposes.  The Company‟s share of the loss of 


its equity accounted investee for the year was $82,000 deficit (2010: $153,000 deficit). 
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Notes to the financial statements 


For the year ended 31 December 2011 


 Note 22. Notes to the Statement of Cashflows 


 (a) Reconciliation of deficit to net cash provided by operating activities 
  2011 2010 
  $’000 $’000 


Net surplus/(deficit) for the period  (7,522) 1,066 


Add/(less) items classified as investing/financing activities:    


Allocations to Member Unions  5,185 6,080 


Interest received  (1,091) (761) 


Interest paid  60 118 


Dividends received  (1) (47) 


Proceeds from sales of option contracts  (377) - 


Fees paid on options purchase  - 150 


    


Add/(less) non-cash items:    


Amortisation   17 39 


Depreciation  261 210 


(Gain)/Loss on fair value foreign exchange forward  691 (691) 


Fair value of options sold during the year  455 - 


Before change in assets and liabilities  (2,322) 6,164 


 


Change in assets and liabilities during the financial period 


   


(Increase)/decrease in receivables  (11,717) 683 


(Increase)/decrease in prepayments and consumables  399 969 


Increase/(decrease) in payables and provisions  1,603 (1,445) 


Increase/(decrease) in deferred revenue  1,795 1,798 


Net cash (used in)/provided by operating activities  (10,242) 8,169 


  


 (b)  Reconciliation of Cash 


For the purposes of the Statement of Cashflows, cash includes cash on hand, at bank and short term 


deposits at call.  Cash as at the end of the financial period as shown in the Statement of Cashflows is 


reconciled to the related items in the balance sheet as follows: 


  $’000 $’000 


Cash at bank and on hand  3,435 11,826 


Cash on deposit  2,039 9,491 


  5,474 21,317 
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Notes to the financial statements 


For the year ended 31 December 2011 


Note 23.  Key management personnel disclosures 


Directors Income 


The following information on the Directors‟ remuneration is voluntarily disclosed by the Company 


notwithstanding that the Company is under no obligation under Special Purpose Reporting to disclose 


this information. 


 


Income paid or payable to Directors of the Company from the Company in connection with the 


management of the affairs of the Company: 


 2011 2011 2010 2010 
 $ $ $ $ 
 Salary Incentives Salary Incentives 


Mr P McGrath 43,600 - 43,600 - 


Mr M Brown 7,267 - 21,800 - 


Mr M Connors 21,800 - 21,800 - 


Mr P Cosgrove AC, MC 14,533 - 7,267 - 


Mr J Eales AM 21,800 - 15,442 - 


Mr M Hawker 21,800 - 21,800 - 


Mr R Lee 21,800 - 21,800 - 


Mr R McGruther 7,267 - 21,800 - 


Mr J Mumm 21,800 - 21,800 - 


Mr J O’Neill AO 762,500 180,000 737,500 385,000 


Mr B Robinson 14,533 - - - 


 958,700 180,000 934,609 385,000 


 







 


 


Page 26 


Directors’ declaration 
 


 In the opinion of the directors of Australian Rugby Union Limited („the Company‟): 
 
 


a) the Company is not a reporting entity 
 
b) the financial statements and notes, set out on pages 7 to 25, are in accordance with the Corporations 


Act 2001, including: 
 


i. giving a true and fair view of the financial position of the Company as at 31 December 2011 
and of its performance, as represented by the results of their operations and its cash flows, 
for the financial year ended on that date in accordance with the statement of compliance and 
basis of preparation described in Note 1; and 


 
ii. complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including Australian Accounting 


Interpretations) to the extent described in Note 1 and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and 
 
c) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when 


they become due and payable. 
 
 
 
 
 
Dated at Sydney this 30


th
 day of March 2012. 


 
 
 
Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors: 
 
 


 
_______________________ 
P. McGrath 
Director 
 
 


 
_______________________ 
J. O‟Neill 
Director 
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Directors‟ report 

For the year ended 31 December 2011 

The Directors of Australian Rugby Union Limited („the Company‟) submit herewith their report together with the special 

purpose financial report of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2011 and the Auditor‟s report thereon. 

In order to comply with the provisions of the Corporations Act 2001 the Directors‟ report is as follows: 

 

1. Directors 

The names and particulars of the Directors who held office at any time during or since the end of the financial year are: 

1 Peter McGrath 

LLB, FAPI MAICD 

Chairman 

Peter joined the Board in April 2005 and was appointed Chairman in April 2007.  He is 

Chairman of the Nominations Committee and a member of the Human Resources 

Committee. Peter is one of the Australian Rugby Union representatives on the International 

Rugby Board Council and is a member of the International Rugby Board Executive 

Committee.  He is one of the Australian Rugby Union‟s delegates to the SANZAR UJV 

Executive Committee and will take up the position of Chairman of SANZAR from the 1 

January 2012.  Peter is a solicitor and Partner of Griffin Legal in Canberra, a Solicitor of the 

ACT Supreme Court and a member of the Law Society of the ACT.  Peter is a qualified 

Valuer and a Fellow of the Australian Property Institute.  Peter is also a Fellow of the AICD. 

 

2 Michael (Mike) Brown  

B.E (Hons) BSc MIEAust CPEng 

Non-Executive Director 

Mike joined the Board in April 2005 and resigned in April 2011.  Mike was Chairman of the 

Governance and Policy Committee and a member of the Nominations Committee. He is a 

Civil Engineer with 37 years experience in the Building and Construction Industry. Mike is 

Chairman of the Rugby Youth Foundation and a former Director of New South Wales Rugby 

Union. 

 

3 Mark Connors 

LLB – Bachelor of Laws, 

Professional Diploma in 

Stockbroking 

Non-Executive Director 

 

Mark joined the Board in April 2007 and is a member of the Audit Committee.  He was 

nominated to the Board by the Rugby Union Players Association (RUPA) having also been 

a former Executive Committee Member of RUPA.  Mark represented Queensland and 

Australia between 1991 and 2006 and was a member of the 1999 World Cup winning 

Wallabies team.  He is a former practicing lawyer now working as an investment adviser 

specialising in Australian Equities. 

 

4 Gen. Peter Cosgrove AC MC 

FAICD 

Non-Executive Director 

Peter joined the Board in April 2007 and resigned from the Board in April 2010.He was a 

member of the Nominations Committee and the Human Resources Committee up to 

October 2009.  Peter re-joined the Board in April 2011 and is Chairman of the Governance 

and Policy Committee and a member of the Nominations Committee.  Peter is a Director of 

Qantas Airways Limited and Cardno Limited, and a Director on a number of other Boards. 

Peter is a Fellow of the AICD., Chairman of the Defence South Australian Defence Advisory 

Board and Chairman of the Australian War Memorial Council.  Peter retired as the Chief of 

the Australian Defence Force in 2005. He was Australian of the Year in 2001. 

 

5 Michael Hawker AM 
BSc(Syd), FAICD, SF Fin, FAIM 
Non Executive Director 

 

Mike re-joined the Board in June 2009 and is Chairman of the Audit Committee.  He was 

Managing Director and CEO of Insurance Australia Group (IAG) for seven years, and has 

over 25 years in the financial services industry. He is currently based in London and is an 

independent Non-Executive Director of Aviva Plc and Macquarie Group.  He is Chairman of 

the George Institute and an Advisory Board Member of the Hong Kong based private equity 

firm GEMs. Michael has represented Australia and New South Wales and has been a 

previous Board Director of Australian Rugby Union and New South Wales Rugby Union. 

 

6 Richard (Rick) Lee 

BE(Chem.) MA(Oxon.) FAICD 

Non-Executive Director 

Rick joined the Board in June 2006 and is Chairman of the Human Resources Committee.  

He was CEO of Rothschild in Australia for nine years.  Rick is currently Chairman of Salmat 

Limited, Deputy Chairman of Ridley Corporation Limited and is a Director of Newcrest 

Mining Limited.  He is also Chairman of the Australian Institute of Company Directors. 
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Directors‟ report (continued)
 

For the year ended 31 December 2011 

7 Richard (Dick) McGruther OBE 

FCA AAICD 

Non-Executive Director 

Dick McGruther re-joined the Board in September 2009 and resigned in April 2011.   Dick 

was Chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the Nominations Committee. He is 

a Chartered Accountant and a consultant with Bentleys Chartered Accountants, after 

extensive services as a Partner of the firm. Dick is also Deputy Chairman of Watpac. He is a 

former International Rugby Board representative, Chairman and President of Queensland 

Rugby Union and was Australian Rugby Union Chairman from 1996 until 1998.   

 

 

8 John Mumm  

MCom(Hons), FAICD 

Non-Executive Director   

John joined the Board in November 2007 and is a member of the Audit Committee and 

Human Resources Committee. He was a member of the Nominations Committee up to 

October 2009.  John is currently Chairman of Spencer Stuart in Australasia and a former 

Director of the firm's global board. He is also a member of the Buildcorp Group Advisory 

Board. 

 

9 John O‟Neill AO 

DipLaw(Syd) FAIB FAICD  

Managing Director & CEO 

John re-joined the Board in June 2007, having previously served as Managing Director (MD) 

& CEO in 1995 – 2004.  He is a member of the Governance and Policy Committee and the 

Nominations Committee.  John is one of Australian Rugby Union's delegates on the 

International Rugby Board Council and a member of the SANZAR UJV Executive 

Committee.  John is a Director of Echo Entertainment Limited.  He is a former CEO of 

Football Federation Australia from 2004 to 2006, former Chairman of Events New South 

Wales and was MD & CEO of the State Bank of NSW, from 1987 to 1995.  John is a 

qualified solicitor, and a Foundation Fellow of the Australian Institute of Company Directors 

and a Fellow of the Australia Institute of Bankers. 

 

10 John Eales AM 

Non-Executive Director 

John joined the Board in April 2010 and is a member of the Nominations Committee. John 

participated in two successful World Cup campaigns; captained the Wallabies in victories 

including the 1999 World Cup; led Australia through three Bledisloe Cup wins and two 

successful seasons of Tri-Nations fixtures and also led the Wallabies to the first series 

victory over the British and Irish Lions.  

John is a founding Partner of Mettle Group, which was acquired by publicly-listed company 

Chandler Macleod, for whom he continues in an executive role. John is a director of 

International Quarterback, a corporate hospitality and event management firm; GRM 

International, a project management firm in the field of international aid and development; 

and the Sports Australia Hall of Fame. John is an Ambassador for Qantas, Lexus and the 

Australian Indigenous Education Foundation. In 2004 and 2008 (and again for London in 

2012) John attended the Olympics as an Athlete Liaison Officer for the Australian Team.  

 

11 Dr Brett Robinson 

MBBS, Dr. Phil (Oxon) 

Non-Executive Director 

Brett joined the ARU Board in April 2011.  Brett was the inaugural captain of the ACT 

Brumbies in the Super 12 competition and in total, played 16 test matches for the national 

rugby union team.  From 2002 to 2005 he was the General Manager of Australian Rugby 

Union‟s High Performance Unit.   

Brett has recently been appointed to the role of Managing Director & CEO of the Integrated 

Oncology Network (ICON) to lead the expansion of their day oncology network and to 

deliver on a vision to establish comprehensive cancer services nationally.  Prior to this Brett 

was the Australian CEO for Mondial Assistance and this was preceded by executive 

management roles with Insurance Australia Group (IAG), with responsibility for its key 

brands of NRMA, CGU and Swann in QLD.  

 

Brett is registered to practice in Queensland and continues to assist Orthopaedic colleagues 

in advanced joint replacement surgery.  Brett remains actively involved in clinical research 

and supervises a PhD student at the ANU. 



 

Page 4 

Directors‟ report (continued)
 

For the year ended 31 December 2011 

2. Company Secretary 

Ashley Selwood B.Bus, MBA, FCPA, ACIS was appointed Company Secretary in May 1998 and has held the position 

until his resignation on 16
th
 September 2011.  Ashley is a member of Chartered Secretaries Australia. 

Nick Weeks B.Com, LLB (Hons), joined the Company in 2006 and was appointed Company Secretary in 2007.  He held 

the role as an alternate until Ashley Resigned in September 2011. Since Ashley‟s resignation he takes on primary 

capacity of the role. In addition to Nick‟s role as Company Secretary he is the Company‟s General Manager of Strategy, 

Corporate Affairs and Legal.   Before joining the ARU, Nick worked with Allens Arthur Robinson in Sydney and Cravath, 

Swaine & Moore LLP in New York.  

3. Directors’ meeting 

The number of directors‟ meetings (including meetings of committees of directors) and number of meetings attended by 

each of the directors of the Company during the financial year are: 

 

Director 
Board 

Meetings 

Audit 
Committee 
Meetings 

Human 
Resources 
Committee 
Meetings 

Governance & 
Policy 

Committee 
Meetings 

Nominations 
Committee 
Meetings 

 A B A B A B A B A B 

Mr P McGrath 7 7   2 2     

Mr M Brown 2 2         

Mr M Connors 7 7 3 3       

Gen. P Cosgrove 4 5         

Mr J Eales 6 7         

Mr R Lee 7 7   2 2     

Mr J Mumm 7 7 3 3 2 2     

Mr J O'Neill 7 7         

Mr R McGruther 2 2 1 1       

Mr M Hawker 7 7 2 2       

Dr B Robinson 4 5         

           
        A  -  Number of 
Meetings Attended       

 
   

        B  -  Reflects 
the number of 
meetings held 
during the time the 
Director held office 
during the year 

 

     

 

   

       

 

4. Principal activities 

The Company‟s principal activities in the financial year were the promotion, efficiency, progress, development and 

general governance of the game of rugby.  

No significant change in the nature of this activity occurred during the year. 

The Special Executive Committee (SEC) of the Queensland Rugby Union (QRU) was established as a requirement of 

the Facility Agreement between the Company and QRU. The Committee is made up of appointments from both 

companies. The Company‟s appointments on the Committee include: one Non-Executive Director, the Company‟s 

Managing Director and two Executives of the Company. 

The Committee met nine times during the year. 
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Directors‟ report (continued)
 

For the year ended 31 December 2011 

5. Review of operations 

The operating deficit for the financial year before allocations and other payments to Member Unions was a deficit of 

$2,337,000 (2010: surplus $7,146,000).  

The deficit, and the significant variance from the 2010 surplus, was a direct result of the IRB‟s scheduling of Rugby World 

Cup 2011 in New Zealand which materially impacted current year net revenues. With no June inbound test series and a 

truncated Tri-Nations series, there were four less home test matches for the Wallabies to generate revenues. The direct 

financial impost of this reduced schedule was $16m with reductions in matchday and broadcast revenues being the 

major contributors. However, through the 2011 budget process ARU Board and management instigated certain initiatives 

to significantly mitigate the impact of this substantially reduced schedule.  

Allocations to Member Unions for coaching and development were $5,185,000 (2010:$6,080,000). 

The net deficit for the financial year after allocations and other payments to Member Unions was $7,522,000 (2010: 

surplus $1,066,000).  

6. Events subsequent to reporting date 

In the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this report, no item, transaction or event of a material 

and unusual nature has arisen, in the opinion of the Directors of the Company, to affect significantly the operations of the 

Company, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Company in future financial years.  

7. Environmental regulations 

The Company‟s operations are not subject to any significant environmental regulations under either Commonwealth or 

State Legislation. 

8. Indemnification and insurance of officers 

In accordance with the Company‟s Constitution, the Company must indemnify both current and former Directors for all 

losses and liabilities incurred by the person as an officer of the Company incurred in defending proceedings, whether civil 

or criminal, in which judgement is given in favour of the person or in which the person is acquitted; or in relation to such 

proceedings in which the Court grants relief to the person under the Corporations Act 2001. 

In respect to this indemnity, the Company has paid insurance premiums of $20,000 in respect of Directors and Officers of 

the Company. The insurance policies do not contain details of the premiums paid in respect of individual Directors or 

Officers of the Company. 

9. Lead auditor’s independence declaration 

The Lead auditor‟s independence declaration is set out on page 6 and forms part of the Directors‟ report for the financial 

year ended 31 December 2011. 

10. Rounding off 

The Company is of a kind referred to in ASIC Class Order 98/100 dated 10 July 1998 and in accordance with that Class 

Order, amounts in the financial report and directors‟ report have been rounded off to the nearest thousand dollars, unless 

otherwise stated. 

 
By order of the Board 

      
____________________________     __________________________ 

P. McGrath       J. O’Neill 

Director        Director 

 

Dated at Sydney this 30
th

 day of March 2012. 



 
 
Lead auditor‟s independence declaration 
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Income statement      
For the year ended 31 December 2011 
 

     

 Note 2011 2010   

  $’000 $’000   

Revenue      

Broadcasting licence fees  28,160 20,286   

Sponsorships  21,212 23,039   

Net gate takings  9,935 20,679   

Corporate hospitality  2,543 4,042   

Licensing revenue  1,483 1,215   

Government grants  1,235 339   

Affiliation fees  - 21   

IRB grants  4,207 2,204   

Other income  26 249   

      

Total revenue  68,801 72,074   

      

Operating expenditure       

Commercial operations  12,876 12,366   

Corporate services  7,611 8,652   

Community rugby  3,623 3,274   

High performance and National teams  11,255 11,584   

Super Rugby grants and player payments  33,709 30,537   

SANZAR costs  3,830 3,382   

      

Total operating expenditure  72,904 69,795   

      

Operating surplus/(deficit) before financing income  (4,103) 2,279   

      

Dividends received  1 47   

Foreign exchange gain/(loss)   891 4,330   

Net interest income/(expense)  956 643   

      

Financing income/(expense)  1,848 5,020   

      

Surplus/(deficit) after financing income  (2,255) 7,299   

      

Share of profit/(loss) of jointly controlled entity 21i (82) (153)   

      

Surplus/(deficit) before tax  (2,337) 7,146   

      

Income tax expense 4 - -   

      

Surplus/(deficit) for the period  (2,337) 7,146   

      

Allocations to Member Unions & Affiliates 17 (5,185) (6,080)   

      

Net surplus/(deficit) for the period 22(a) (7,522) 1,066   

  

 

 

 

The income statement is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements set out on pages 12 to 25.  
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Statement of comprehensive income  
 For the year ended 31 December 2011      

      

 Note 2011 2010   

  $’000 $’000   

      

      

Surplus/(deficit) for the period  (7,522) 1,066   

      

Other comprehensive income      

Net change in fair value of cash flow hedges transferred to profit and loss  (5,694) 2,370   

Net change in fair value of cash flow hedges taken to equity  - 6,021   

Revaluation of property, plant and equipment 9 40 -   

Total other comprehensive income for the period  (5,654) 8,391   

      

      

      

Total comprehensive income for the period  (13,176) 9,457   

      

There were no movements in equity arising from transactions with owners as owners. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The statement of comprehensive income is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements 

set out on pages 12 to 25.  
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Statement of financial position     
As at 31 December 2011      

      

 Note 2011 2010   
  $’000 $’000   
Current assets      

Cash and cash equivalents 5 5,474 21,317   

Trade and other receivables 6 16,137 9,691   

Other assets  7 681 1,080   

Financial assets 8 1,702 8,704   

Total current assets  23,994 40,792   

      

Non-current assets      

Trade and other receivables 6 5,784 1,670   

Property, plant and equipment 9 1,514 1,309   

Intangible assets 10 1,383 -   

Financial assets 8 609 -   

Investment in Joint Venture 11 1,022 311   

Total non-current assets  10,312 3,290   

      

Total assets  34,306 44,082   

      

Current liabilities      

Trade and other payables 12 7,675 6,476   

Deferred revenue 13 4,430 7,612   

Employee benefits 15 779 506   

Financial liabilities 16 35 -   

Total current liabilities  12,919 14,594   

      

Non-current liabilities      

Deferred revenue 13 4,978 -   

Other liabilities 14 200 200   

Employee benefits 15 191 136   

Financial liabilities 16 42 -   

Total non-current liabilities  5,411 336   

      

Total liabilities  18,330 14,930   

      

Net assets  15,976 29,152   

      

Equity      

       

Retained surplus  8,403 15,925   

Realised cash flow hedge reserve  6,021 6,021   
Total capital position  14,424 21,946   

Asset revaluation reserve  903 863   

Unrealised cash flow hedge reserve  649 6,343   
Total equity  15,976  29,152   

 

 

The statement of financial position is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements set out on pages 12 to 25. 
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Statement of changes in equity      

For the year ended 31 December 2011       

    

 
Retained earnings 

Asset revaluation 

reserve 

Cash flow hedge 

reserve realised 

Cash flow hedge 

reserve unrealised 

Contributed 

equity 
Total equity 

 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Balance at beginning of 
period 15,925 14,859 863 863 6,021 - 6,343 3,973 - - 29,152 19,695 

             

Total comprehensive 
income for the period  

            

Net surplus/(deficit) for 
the year (7,522) 1,066 - - - - - - - - (7,522) 1,066 

             

Other comprehensive 
income 

            

Net change in fair value 
of cash flow hedge 
transferred to profit and 
loss - - - - - - (5,694) 2,370 - - (5,694) 2,370 

 
Net change in fair value 
of cash flow hedge 
transferred to equity - - - - - 6,021 - - - - - 6,021 

 
Revaluation of property, 
plant and equipment 

- - 40 - - - - - - - 40 - 

             

Total comprehensive 
income for the period (7,522) 1,066 40 - - 6,021 (5,694) 2,370 - - (13,176) 9,457 

             

Balance at end of 
period 8,403 15,925 903 863 6,021 6,021 649 6,343 - - 15,976 29,152 

  The statement of changes in equity is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements set out on pages 12 to 25. 

The Company is a Company Limited by guarantee and, in the event of the winding up of the Company, members may be required to contribute a maximum of $100 each. 
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Statement of cash flows 
For the year ended 31 December 2011      

      

 Note 2011 2010   

  $’000 $’000   
Cash flows from operating activities      
Cash receipts in the course of operations   54,200 68,998   

Cash payments in the course of operations  (64,442) (60,829)   

      

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities 22(a) (10,242) 8,169   

      

Cash flows from investing activities      

Dividends received  1 47   

Net interest received  1,031 643   

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment   - -   

Proceeds from sale of shares  - 1,554   

Payments for property, plant and equipment  (425) (234)   

Payments for intangibles  (1,400) -   

      

Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities  (793) 2,010   

      

Cash flows from financing activities      

Payments for foreign exchange options  - (1,821)   

Proceeds from sale foreign exchange contracts  - 6,021   

Proceeds from sale of options 
Allocations to Member Unions & Affiliates  

377 

(5,185) 

- 

(6,080) 

  

      

Net cash (used in)/ from financing activities  (4,808) (1,880)   
      

Net increase/(decrease) in cash held   (15,843) 8,299   

      

Cash at beginning of year   21,317 13,018   
      

Cash at end of year  22(b) 5,474 21,317   

      
The statement of cash flows is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements set out on pages 12 to 25. 
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Notes to the financial statements 

For the year ended 31 December 2011 

 Note 1. Statement of significant accounting policies (continued) 

Australian Rugby Union Limited (the „Company‟) is a company domiciled in Australia. In the opinion of the 

directors it is not a reporting entity as there are unlikely to exist users of the financial report who are unable 

to command the preparation of reports tailored so as to satisfy specifically all of their information needs. 

Accordingly, this special purpose financial report has been prepared to satisfy the directors‟ reporting 

requirements under the Corporations Act 2001. This special purpose financial report was authorised for 

issue by the directors on 30th March 2012. 

(a) Statement of compliance 

The financial report is a special purpose financial report which has been prepared in accordance with the 

Corporations Act 2001, the recognition and measurement aspects of all applicable Australian Accounting 

Standards adopted by the Australian Accounting Standards Board („AASB‟),  the disclosure requirements 

of AASB101 Presentation of Financial Statements, AASB107 Cash Flow Statements, AASB108 Accounting 

Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors and AASB1048 Interpretation and Application of 

Standards.   

(b) Basis of preparation 

The financial report is presented in Australian dollars. 

The financial report is prepared on the historical cost basis except that financial instruments are valued at 

fair value through the profit and loss as well as derivative financial instruments and memorabilia which are 

measured at fair value. 

The Company is of a kind referred to in ASIC Class Order 98/100 dated 10 July 1998 (updated by CO 

05/641 effective 28 July 2005 and CO 06/51 effective 31 January 2006) and in accordance with that Class 

Order, amounts in the financial report and Directors‟ Report have been rounded off to the nearest thousand 

dollars, unless otherwise stated.  

The preparation of a financial report in conformity with Australian Accounting Standards requires 

management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and 

reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated 

assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be 

reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the judgements about 

carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.  Actual results may 

differ from these estimates.   

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  Revisions to accounting 

estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that 

period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future 

periods.  

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently by the Company to all periods 

presented in the financial report.   

The Company has reported a “total capital position” on the statement of financial position.  This 
measure captures realised equity positions of the organisation and excludes unrealised changes in net 
asset values that are recorded in equity including cash flow hedge reserve and asset revaluation 
reserve.  This is the measure the Board and management uses to assess the net asset backing of the 
organisation. 

(c) Changes in accounting policy 

In the current year, the Company has not adopted any revised standards issued by the Australian 

Accounting Standards Board (AASB) as none are relevant to its operations in the current financial year.   

(d) Associates and Joint Ventures 

In the financial statements, investments in jointly controlled entities are accounted for using equity 

accounting principles.  Investments in joint venture entities are carried at the lower of the equity accounted 

amount and recoverable amount. 
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Notes to the financial statements 

For the year ended 31 December 2011 

 Note 1. Statement of significant accounting policies (continued) 

The entity‟s share of the jointly controlled entity‟s net profit or loss is recognised in the income statement 

from the date joint control commenced until the date joint control ceases. 

(e) Foreign currency 

  Foreign currency transactions 

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rate prevailing at the date of the 

transaction or applicable foreign exchange contract rate.  Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 

foreign currencies at the balance sheet date are translated to Australian dollars at the foreign exchange 

rate ruling at that date.  Foreign exchange differences arising on translation are recognised in the income 

statement.  Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign 

currency are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Foreign currency differences 

arising on translation are recognised in the income statement except for differences arising on qualifying 

cash flow hedges, which are recognised in other comprehensive income.  Non-monetary assets and 

liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are translated to Australian dollars 

at foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair value was determined. 

(f) Financial instruments 

 i Derivative financial instruments 

The Company uses derivative financial instruments to hedge its exposure to foreign exchange arising from 

operational activities. The Company does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for trading 

purposes. 

Derivative financial instruments are recognised initially at fair value.  Subsequent to initial recognition, 

derivative financial instruments are stated at fair value.  The gain or loss on re-measurement to fair value is 

recognised immediately in profit or loss.  However, where derivatives qualify for hedge accounting, 

recognition of any resultant gain or loss depends on the nature of the item being hedged (see accounting 

policy (g)). 

The fair value of forward exchange contracts is their quoted market price at the balance sheet date, being 

the present value of the quoted forward price. 

 ii Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss 

An instrument is classified as at fair value through profit or loss if it is held for trading or is designated as 

such upon initial recognition. Financial instruments are designated at fair value through profit or loss if the 

Company manages such investments and makes purchase and sale decisions based on their fair value in 

accordance with the Company‟s risk management or investment strategy. Upon initial recognition, 

attributable transaction costs are recognised in profit or loss when incurred. Financial instruments at fair 

value through profit or loss are measured at fair value, and changes therein are recognised in profit or loss. 

(g) Hedging 

  Cash flow hedges 

On entering into a hedging relationship, the Company formally designates and documents the hedge 

relationship and the risk management objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge.  The 

documentation includes identification of the hedging instrument, the hedged item or transaction, the nature 

of the risk being hedged and how the entity will assess the hedging instrument‟s effectiveness in offsetting 

the exposure to changes in the hedged item‟s fair value or cash flows attributable to the hedged risk.  Such 

hedges are expected to be highly effective in achieving offsetting changes in fair value or cash flows and 

are assessed on an ongoing basis to determine that they actually have been highly effective throughout the 

financial reporting periods for which they are designated. 

 

Where a derivative financial instrument is designated as a hedge of the variability in cash flows of a 

recognised asset or liability, or a highly probable forecasted transaction, the effective part of any gain or 

loss on the derivative financial instrument is recognised directly in equity. 
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Notes to the financial statements 

For the year ended 31 December 2011 

 Note 1. Statement of significant accounting policies (continued) 

(g)   Hedging (continued) 

  Cash flow hedges (continued) 

When the forecasted transaction subsequently results in the recognition of a non-financial asset or non-

financial liability, or the forecast transaction for a non-financial asset or non-financial liability, the associated 

cumulative gain or loss is removed from equity and included in the initial cost or other carrying amount of 

the non-financial asset or liability.  If a hedge of a forecasted transaction subsequently results in the 

recognition of a financial asset or a financial liability, the associated gains and losses that were recognised 

directly in equity are reclassified into profit or loss in the same period or periods during which the asset 

acquired or liability assumed affects profit or loss (i.e. when broadcasting or match fee revenue is 

recognised). 

For cash flow hedges other than those covered by the preceding two policy statements, the associated 

cumulative gain or loss is removed from equity and recognised in the income statement in the same period 

or periods during which the hedged forecast transaction affects profit or loss.  The ineffective part of any 

gain or loss is recognised immediately in the income statement.   

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised, or the entity revokes designation of 

the hedge relationship, but the hedged forecast transaction is still expected to occur, the cumulative gain or 

loss at that point remains in equity and is recognised when the forecast transaction is ultimately recognised 

in the income statement.  If the hedged transaction is no longer expected to take place, the cumulative 

unrealised gain or loss recognised in equity is recognised immediately in the income statement. 

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow 

hedges are recognised in equity. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised 

immediately in the income statement within „increase/ (decrease) in fair value of financial instruments‟. 

The gain or loss relating to the effective portion of forward foreign exchange contracts hedging receipts is 

recognised in the income statement within „revenue‟. 

  

(h) Property, plant and equipment 

 i Owned assets 

Items of plant and equipment are measured at cost or deemed cost less accumulated depreciation (see 

below) and impairment losses (see accounting policy (m)).  

Items of memorabilia are measured at fair value less accumulated depreciation (see below) and 

impairment losses (see accounting policy (m)).  

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for 

as separate items of property, plant and equipment.  

 ii Subsequent costs 

The Company recognises in the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment the cost of 

replacing part of such an item when that cost is incurred if it is probable that the future economic benefits 

embodied within the item will flow to the Company and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.  All 

other costs are recognised in the income statement as an expense as incurred. 

 iii Depreciation 

Depreciation is charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of 

each part of an item of property, plant and equipment, the depreciable amount being cost less residual 

value.  

The estimated useful lives in the current and comparative periods are as follows: 

 Plant and equipment   2 - 20 years 

 Memorabilia   40 years 

The residual value, the useful life and the depreciation method applied to an asset are reassessed at least 

annually. 
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Notes to the financial statements 

For the year ended 31 December 2011 

 Note 1. Statement of significant accounting policies (continued) 

(i)      Intangible assets 

Intangible assets include the cost of intellectual property and software.  Amortisation is charged to the 

income statement on a straight line basis over the estimated useful lives of software assets.  Intangible 

assets are amortised from the date they are available for use. 

The estimated useful life in the current and comparative period is as follows: 

 Intellectual Property Indefinite 

 Software   3 years 

These are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation.  The carrying amount of expenditure on 

intangibles is reviewed at the end of each financial year and where the balance exceeds the value of the 

expected future benefits, the difference is charged to the income statement. 

(j)      Trade and other receivables 

Trade and other receivables are stated at their amortised cost less impairment losses (see accounting 

policy (m)). 

(k)      Consumables 

Stocks of coaching manuals, law books and other items which are held for resale are recognised as 

consumables.  Consumables also comprises stocks of consumables including uniforms, footwear, player 

sustenance and other rugby equipment which are used by the Company in the ordinary conduct of its 

business. 

Consumables are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.  Net realisable value is the estimated 

selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated selling expenses. 

The cost of other consumables is based on the first-in first-out principle and includes expenditure incurred 

in acquiring the consumables and bringing them to their existing location and condition. 

(l)      Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits.  Bank overdrafts that are repayable 

on demand and form an integral part of the Company‟s cash management are included as a component of 

cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the Statement of Cashflows. 

(m)      Impairment 

The carrying amount of the Company‟s assets, are reviewed at each balance sheet date to determine 

whether there is any indication of impairment.  If any such indication exists, the asset‟s recoverable amount 

is estimated (see accounting policy (m) i). 

An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit 

exceeds its recoverable amount.  Impairment losses are recognised in the income statement, unless an 

asset has previously been re-valued, in which case the impairment loss is recognised as a reversal to the 

extent of that previous revaluation with any excess recognised through profit or loss. 
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Notes to the financial statements 

For the year ended 31 December 2011 

 Note 1. Statement of significant accounting policies (continued) 

(m) Impairment (continued) 

 i Calculation of recoverable amount 

The recoverable amount of the Company‟s held-to-maturity receivables carried at amortised cost is 

calculated as the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest 

rate (i.e. the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition of these financial assets).  Receivables 

with a short duration are not discounted. 

Impairment of receivables is not recognised until objective evidence is available that a loss event has 

occurred.  Significant receivables are individually assessed for impairment.  Impairment testing of 

significant receivables that are not assessed as impaired individually is performed by placing them into 

portfolios of significant receivables with similar risk profiles and undertaking a collective assessment of 

impairment.  Non-significant receivables are not individually assessed.  Instead, impairment testing is 

performed by placing non-significant receivables in portfolios of similar risk profiles, based on objective 

evidence from historical experience adjusted for any effects of conditions existing at each balance sheet 

date. 

The recoverable amount of other assets is the greater of their fair value less costs to sell and value in use.  

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a 

pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks 

specific to the asset. For an asset that does not generate largely independent cash inflows, the recoverable 

amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.  

ii Reversals of impairment 

An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset‟s carrying amount does not exceed the 

carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment 

loss had been recognised. 

(n) Employee benefits 

 i Defined contribution superannuation funds 

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution superannuation funds are recognised as an expense in 

the income statement as incurred. 

 ii Long-term service benefits 

The Company‟s net obligation in respect of long-term service benefits, other than pension plans is the 

amount of future benefit that employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior 

periods plus related on-costs.  

 iii Wages, salaries, annual leave, sick leave and non-monetary benefits 

The provisions for employee benefits to wages, salaries, annual leave and sick leave represent the amount 

that the Company has a present obligation to pay resulting from employees‟ services provided up to 

reporting date.  The provisions have been calculated at undiscounted amounts based on remuneration 

wage and salary rates that the Company expects to pay as at reporting date including related on-costs, 

such as workers compensation insurance and payroll tax. 

Non-accumulating non-monetary benefits are expensed based on the net marginal cost to the Company as 
the benefits are taken by the employees. 

(o) Provisions 

A provision is recognised in the balance sheet when the Company has a present legal or constructive 

obligation as a result of a past event which can be reliably measured, and it is probable that an outflow of 

economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation.  Provisions are determined by discounting the 

expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of 

money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. 

(p) Trade and other payables 

Trade and other payables are stated at their amortised cost. 

Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 45-day terms or less. 

 



 

 

Page 17 

Notes to the financial statements 

For the year ended 31 December 2011 

 Note 1. Statement of significant accounting policies (continued) 

(q) Revenue 

 i Goods sold and services rendered 

Revenue is recognised in the income statement when persuasive evidence exists, usually in the form of an 

executed sales agreement, that the significant risks and rewards have been transferred to the buyer.  The 

primary sources of the Company‟s revenue relate to broadcasting rights, sponsorship properties and match 

ticket sales.  Broadcasting and sponsorship revenue is recognised in line with the terms specified in the 

relevant contracts.  Revenue from ticket sales is recognised at the time the match is played.  No revenue is 

recognised if there are significant uncertainties regarding recovery of the consideration due, the costs 

incurred or to be incurred cannot be measured reliably, there is a risk of return of goods or there is 

continuing management involvement with the goods or service. 

 

ii Grants 

Grants are considered non-reciprocal transfers to the Company. Grants that compensate the Company for 

expenses incurred or which contribute to the cost of a capital expenditure are recognised immediately as 

revenue when there is reasonable assurance that the Company has obtained control of the grant or the 

right to receive it.  Grants expected to be received on a multi-year public policy agreement are recognised 

as revenue when the Company has met the conditions or provided the services that make it eligible to 

receive the grant. 

(r) Expenses 

 i Operating lease payments 

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in the income statement on a straight-line basis 

over the term of the lease.  Lease incentives received are recognised in the income statement as an 

integral part of the total lease expense, over the term of the lease. 

 ii Net financing costs 

Net financing costs comprise interest payable on borrowings calculated using the effective interest method, 

interest receivable on funds invested, foreign exchange gains and losses, and gains and losses on hedging 

instruments that are recognised in the income statement (see accounting policy (f)).  

Interest income is recognised in the income statement as it accrues, using the effective interest method. 

(s) Income tax 

The Company is exempt from income tax under the terms of Division 50 of the Income Tax Assessment 

Act 1997. 

(t) Goods and services tax 

Revenue, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST), except 

where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority.  In these circumstances, 

the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense. 

Receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included.  The net amount of GST 

recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO is included as a current asset or liability in the balance sheet. 

Cash flows are included in the Statement of Cash Flows on a gross basis.  The GST components of cash 

flows arising from investing and financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO are 

classified as operating cash flows. 
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Notes to the financial statements 

For the year ended 31 December 2011 

  Note 2. Other expenses 

  2011 2010 

  $’000 $’000 

Employee benefits    

Wages and salaries  12,848 11,439 

Superannuation  974 898 

Total employee benefits  13,822 12,337 

 

 
   

Amortisation   17 - 

Depreciation of Plant and equipment  261 210 

Total amortisation and depreciation  278 210 

    

    

Net (benefit) from movements in provision for employee 

entitlements 
 328 170 

Operating lease rental expense payments  1,609 1,412 

 Note 3. Auditors’ remuneration 

  $ $ 

Audit services    

Auditors of the Company - KPMG     

 Audit of the financial report – current  54,550 68,400 

    

Other services    

Auditors of the Company – KPMG    

 Other assurance services  6,800 4,200 

    

  61,350 72,600 

 Note 4. Income Tax 

The Company is exempt from income tax in Australia under the terms of Division 50 of the Income Tax 

Assessment Act 1997.The Company did not have any Tax Expense from revenue earned from 

overseas activities. 

  Note 5. Cash and cash equivalents 

  $’000 $’000 

Cash at bank and on hand   3,435 11,826 

Cash on deposit   2,039 9,491 

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of cash flows    

5,474 

 

21,317 
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Notes to the financial statements 

For the year ended 31 December 2011 

 Note 6. Trade and other receivables 

  2011 2010 

  $’000 $’000 

Current    

Trade receivables  8,190 3,602 

Member unions receivables  108 404 

Loan to Queensland Rugby Union **  783 820 

Other receivables  7,056 4,865 

  16,137 9,691 

Non-current    

Loans to Member Unions:  $’000 $’000 

ACT Rugby Union  427 427 

Northern Territory Rugby Union  80 80 

Queensland Rugby Union **  750 1,270 

South Australian Rugby Union  - 42 

Tasmanian Rugby Union  17 17 

Other receivables  4,634 - 

Provision for doubtful debts 

 

 

(124) 

5,784 

 

(166) 

1,670 

** The Company extended a 4 year interest bearing facility of $3,000,000 to Queensland Rugby Union 

(QRU).  The loan commenced on 13th August 2010 and is secured by a second right of charge being 

the real property mortgage over Ballymore and repayable in annual $750,000 tranches. At 31st 

December 2011 the loan was drawn to $1,500,000. Post 31 December 2011, the QRU has formally 

indicated their intention to repay the loan in full in 2012 and expire the facility with the Company. 

Note 7.  Other assets 

  $’000 $’000 

Current    

Consumables  66 66 

Prepayments  615 1,014 

  681 1,080 

 Note 8.  Financial assets 

  $’000 $’000 

Current    

Foreign exchange options*  1,662 1,671  

Foreign exchange forward contracts  40 7,033 

  1,702 8,704 

Non-Current    

Foreign exchange forward contracts  609 - 

  609 - 

* The foreign exchange options refer to the fair value of USD currency options at 31st December 2011 at 

a strike price of $1.05. The options purchase is intended to hedge the exposure to any adverse effects of 

foreign currency (AUD/USD) volatility in relation to broadcasting revenue to be received between 2012 

and 2015. 
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Notes to the financial statements 

For the year ended 31 December 2011 

 Note 9.  Property, plant and equipment 

  2011 2010 
  $’000 $’000 

Memorabilia    

At fair value  927 887 

Accumulated depreciation  (45) (22) 

Total memorabilia  882 865 

    

Plant and equipment    

At cost  2,095 2,111 

Accumulated depreciation  (1,463) (1,667) 

Total plant and equipment  632 444 

Total property, plant and equipment (net book value)  1,514 1,309 

 

During 2011, additional memorabilia assets were donated to the company and have been independently 
valued at $40,100 by a valuations specialist. 

 Note 10. Intangibles 

  $’000 $’000 

Intellectual Property *  1,300 - 

Software **  100 - 

Accumulated amortisation  (17) - 

  1,383 - 

 

* In 2011, the Company acquired the intellectual property rights of the Melbourne Rebels' Club property 

in respect of the Super Rugby competition at a cost of $1,300,000. The Board have determined an 

indefinite useful life for the intangible asset; as a result, it will be tested annually for impairment. At 31st 

December 2011 the intellectual property asset was found to have no indications of impairment. 

 

** In July 2011, the Company purchased computer software at a cost $100,000. This will be amortised 

over 3 years in line with its expected useful life. 

 

 Note 11. Interest in joint venture 

  $’000 $’000 

Investment in SANZAR Europe S.a.r.l.  1,104 464 

Share of profit/(loss) for the current period  (106) (153) 

  998 311 

 

Investment in SANZAR Pty Ltd 

 

- - 

Share of profit/(loss) for the current period  24  

  24 - 

  1,022 311 

 Note 12. Trade and other payables 

  $’000 $’000 

Trade creditors  3,786 1,687 

Member Union creditors and accruals  197 504 

Other creditors and accruals  3,692 4,285 

  7,675 6,476 
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Notes to the financial statements 

For the year ended 31 December 2011 

   Note 13.  Deferred revenue 

  2011 2010 
  $’000 $’000 

Current    

Test match revenue  1,693 1,087 

Broadcasting license fees  1,666 5,475 

Sponsorships  250 750 

Government grants  432 - 

Other  389 300 

  4,430 7,612 

Non-current    

Broadcast license fees  4,978 - 

  4,978 - 

 Note 14. Other liabilities 

  2011 2010 
  $’000 $’000 

Non-current    

Provision for make good  200 200 

  200 200 

 Note 15.  Employee benefits 

  $’000 $’000 

Current    

Annual leave  404 243 

Long service leave  375 263 

  779 506 

Non-Current    

Long service leave  191 136 

  191 136 

  970 642 

Superannuation 

The Company contributes on behalf of employees to externally managed defined contribution 

superannuation plans. Benefits are based upon the accumulation of assets in these plans. The value of 

contributions remitted during the period was $974,000 (2010 $898,000). 

 

 Note 16. Financial liabilities 

  $’000 $’000 

Current    

Financial Lease *  35 - 

    

Non-Current    

Financial Lease *  42 - 

  77 - 

* The finance lease is in relation to the purchase of computer software in 2011 which has been 

capitalised as an intangible asset (see Note 10). The finance lease expires in February 2013. 
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Notes to the financial statements 

For the year ended 31 December 2011 

    Note 17.  Allocations to Member Unions & Affiliates 

  2011 2010 
   $’000 $’000 

Queensland Rugby Union Ltd  2,047 2,257 

New South Wales Rugby Union Ltd*  1,276 1,806 

Australian Rugby Football Schools Union  500 500 

Victoria Rugby Union Inc  325 425 

ACT & Southern NSW Rugby Union Ltd  295 295 

Western Australia Rugby Union Inc  200 260 

Northern Territory Rugby Union Inc  225 225 

South Australian Rugby Union Ltd  225 225 

Tasmanian Rugby Union Inc  55 55 

Other  37 32 

Total  5,185 6,080 

*  Allocation to New South Wales Rugby Union for 2011 represents grant funding for Premier Rugby. In 2010, 

the funding includes the last tranche of funding supplied under the previous Community Rugby funding model. 

Community rugby development in NSW now forms part of ARU‟s community rugby operations. 

Note 18.Commitments 

 a) Broadcasting Agreements 

The Company, together with New Zealand Rugby Union and South African Rugby Football Union has 

entered into agreements for the period 2011 to 2015 inclusive. These broadcasting agreements commit 

the Company to provide five teams for the Super Rugby Competition and also to provide for Test 

matches as part of the Tri- Nations and Rugby Championship competitions and the June window for 

the period of the agreement. 

 b) SANZAR Joint Venture 

The Company has given certain undertakings in respect to its participation in the SANZAR joint 

venture.  These undertakings are consistent with its undertakings in the broadcasting agreements and 

continue under the new broadcasting agreements for the 2011 to 2015 period. 

 c) Collective Bargaining Agreement  

A Collective Bargaining Agreement has been negotiated between the Company, New South Wales 

Rugby Union Ltd, Queensland Rugby Union Ltd, Australian Capital Territory and Southern New South 

Wales Rugby Union Ltd, West Australian Rugby Union Inc and Rugby Union Players Association Inc.   

Under this agreement the Company, along with the other rugby bodies is required to make minimum 

player payments.  The parties are negotiating a new agreement for 2012 and beyond. 

 d)  Participation Agreements, Professional Rugby Agreements and Community 

Rugby Grants  

The Company has entered into Participation Agreements and Professional Rugby Agreements with the 

entities responsible for the five teams competing in the Super Rugby competition from 2011.  

The total amounts payable by the Company for 2012 would be as follows: 

  $’000  

Professional Rugby    

Participation Agreements  12,790  

Professional Rugby Agreements  8,000  

  20,790  

Further, the Company has non-binding arrangements in relation 

to Community Rugby as follows: 

 

  

   

Premier Rugby Grants  1,798 

Community Rugby Grants  3,060 

  4,858 

25,648 
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Notes to the financial statements 

For the year ended 31 December 2011 

 

 e)  Operating lease commitments 

 2011 2010 
 $’000 $’000 

Less than one year 1,664 1,607 

Between one and five years 6,930 6,227 

More than five years 1,737 4,730 

 10,331 12,564 

 

The Company leases property under non-cancellable operating leases.  The leases will expire within 

six years.  Leases generally provide the Company a right of renewal at which time all terms are 

renegotiated. Lease payments comprise a base amount plus an incremental rental based on 

movements in the Consumer Price Index. 

The Company leases motor vehicles under operating leases expiring within four years. Lease 

payments are fixed for the term of the leases.   

 Note 19. Contingent liabilities 

The Company is defendant in a number of claims for personal injuries and other damages relating to 

the game of rugby.  These claims are being defended and generally are subject to insurance coverage.  

At this time the Directors are unable to ascertain what the Company‟s liability, if any, may be. 

 Note 20. Investment in jointly controlled entities  

 i SANZAR Pty Limited 
The Company has a 33% interest in SANZAR Pty Limited (ACN 069 272 304).  The primary purpose of 

SANZAR Pty Limited is to manage the Super Rugby, Tri Nations and Rugby Champion rugby 

competitions in the Southern Hemisphere as well as the associated broadcasting agreements. 

 

The assets and liabilities of SANZAR Pty Limited were not material as at 31 December 2011 and the 

Company‟s interests are valued at $24,000 (2010: nil). See Note 11. 

All of the obligations of the venturers arising from or attributable to the entity are several only and not 

joint and several.  

 ii Rugby Shared Services Pty Ltd 

The Company has a 50% interest in Rugby Shared Services Pty Ltd (ACN 139 655 413) (RSS) which 

was established on 24 September 2009. The primary purpose of Rugby Shared Services Pty Ltd is to 

facilitate and develop efficiencies across various rugby operations.  

The assets and liabilities of Rugby Shared Services Pty Ltd were not material as at 31 December 2011 

and the Company‟s interests were therefore not consolidated in the Company‟s financial statements.  

Rugby Shared Services Pty Ltd net results as at 31 December 2011 were not material. Consequently, 

the Company‟s interests were not consolidated in the Company‟s financial statements. 

 Note 21.  Interest in joint ventures 

 i SANZAR Europe S.a.r.l. 

The Company has a 33% interest in SANZAR Europe.  This investee was established in conjunction 

with New Zealand Rugby Union and South African Rugby Union, to develop a European operation to 

facilitate sales in the European broadcasting market.  Based on an evaluation of the risks and rewards 

of the investee it is not consolidated by the Company.  The Company and other investors all provided 

an equal portion of the loan to the investee for start up purposes.  The Company‟s share of the loss of 

its equity accounted investee for the year was $82,000 deficit (2010: $153,000 deficit). 
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 Note 22. Notes to the Statement of Cashflows 

 (a) Reconciliation of deficit to net cash provided by operating activities 
  2011 2010 
  $’000 $’000 

Net surplus/(deficit) for the period  (7,522) 1,066 

Add/(less) items classified as investing/financing activities:    

Allocations to Member Unions  5,185 6,080 

Interest received  (1,091) (761) 

Interest paid  60 118 

Dividends received  (1) (47) 

Proceeds from sales of option contracts  (377) - 

Fees paid on options purchase  - 150 

    

Add/(less) non-cash items:    

Amortisation   17 39 

Depreciation  261 210 

(Gain)/Loss on fair value foreign exchange forward  691 (691) 

Fair value of options sold during the year  455 - 

Before change in assets and liabilities  (2,322) 6,164 

 

Change in assets and liabilities during the financial period 

   

(Increase)/decrease in receivables  (11,717) 683 

(Increase)/decrease in prepayments and consumables  399 969 

Increase/(decrease) in payables and provisions  1,603 (1,445) 

Increase/(decrease) in deferred revenue  1,795 1,798 

Net cash (used in)/provided by operating activities  (10,242) 8,169 

  

 (b)  Reconciliation of Cash 

For the purposes of the Statement of Cashflows, cash includes cash on hand, at bank and short term 

deposits at call.  Cash as at the end of the financial period as shown in the Statement of Cashflows is 

reconciled to the related items in the balance sheet as follows: 

  $’000 $’000 

Cash at bank and on hand  3,435 11,826 

Cash on deposit  2,039 9,491 

  5,474 21,317 
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Note 23.  Key management personnel disclosures 

Directors Income 

The following information on the Directors‟ remuneration is voluntarily disclosed by the Company 

notwithstanding that the Company is under no obligation under Special Purpose Reporting to disclose 

this information. 

 

Income paid or payable to Directors of the Company from the Company in connection with the 

management of the affairs of the Company: 

 2011 2011 2010 2010 
 $ $ $ $ 
 Salary Incentives Salary Incentives 

Mr P McGrath 43,600 - 43,600 - 

Mr M Brown 7,267 - 21,800 - 

Mr M Connors 21,800 - 21,800 - 

Mr P Cosgrove AC, MC 14,533 - 7,267 - 

Mr J Eales AM 21,800 - 15,442 - 

Mr M Hawker 21,800 - 21,800 - 

Mr R Lee 21,800 - 21,800 - 

Mr R McGruther 7,267 - 21,800 - 

Mr J Mumm 21,800 - 21,800 - 

Mr J O’Neill AO 762,500 180,000 737,500 385,000 

Mr B Robinson 14,533 - - - 

 958,700 180,000 934,609 385,000 
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Directors’ declaration 
 

 In the opinion of the directors of Australian Rugby Union Limited („the Company‟): 
 
 

a) the Company is not a reporting entity 
 
b) the financial statements and notes, set out on pages 7 to 25, are in accordance with the Corporations 

Act 2001, including: 
 

i. giving a true and fair view of the financial position of the Company as at 31 December 2011 
and of its performance, as represented by the results of their operations and its cash flows, 
for the financial year ended on that date in accordance with the statement of compliance and 
basis of preparation described in Note 1; and 

 
ii. complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including Australian Accounting 

Interpretations) to the extent described in Note 1 and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and 
 
c) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when 

they become due and payable. 
 
 
 
 
 
Dated at Sydney this 30

th
 day of March 2012. 

 
 
 
Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors: 
 
 

 
_______________________ 
P. McGrath 
Director 
 
 

 
_______________________ 
J. O‟Neill 
Director 
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